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PROBLEMS WITH INTERNAL REVENUE SERV-
ICE COMMUNICATIONS WITH TAXPAYERS
AND COLLECTION OF TAX DEBTS

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 9, 1993

House of Representatives,
Committee on Ways and Means,

Subcommittee on Oversight,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:05 a.m., in room
B-318, Raybum House Office Building, Hon. J.J. Pickle (chairman
of the subcommittee) presiding.

[The press release announcing the hearing follows:]
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE
THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 4, 1993

PRESS RELEASE #17
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT
COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS
U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
1135 LONGWORTH HOUSE OFFICE BLDG.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20515
TELEPHONE: (202) 225-5522

THE HONORABLE J. J. PICKLE (D. , TEXAS), CHAIRMAN,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT, COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS,

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
ANNOUNCES A HEARING ON PROBLEMS WITH INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

COMMUNICATIONS WITH TAXPAYERS AND COLLECTION OF TAX DEBTS

The Honorable J. J. Pickle (D., Texas), Chairman, Subcommittee on
Oversight, Committee on Ways and Means, U. S. House of Representatives,
announced today that the Subcommittee will hold a hearing to review
issues contained in six recent U.S. General Accounting (GAO) reports to
the Subcommittee concerning problems with Internal Revenue Service (IRS)
communications with taxpayers and collection of tax debts. The hearing
will be held on Tuesday, November 9, 1993, beginning at 10:00 a.m., in
room B-318 Rayburn House Office Building. The Subcommittee will receive
testimony from representatives of GAO.

In announcing the hearing. Chairman Pickle stated, "More people have
contact with IRS than with any other agency of the Federal Government.
Therefore, it is imperative that IRS communications with taxpayers are
clear, accurate and timely. Too often taxpayers encounter confusing or
inaccurate forms and notices from IRS, or are unable to get timely or
accurate tax assistance from IRS over the telephone. This situation
undermines public confidence in the competence of IRS and the fairness of
our tax system.

"With respect to collecting overdue taxes, IRS is facing a growing
crisis. The IRS accounts receivable inventory is currently $131 billion
and continues to grow, while IRS collections from cases in the inventory
has declined. Further, in some cases, IRS collection practices are not
equitable or consistent throughout the country. Too often taxpayers do
not personally talk to an IRS employee until after an enforced collection
action has taken place. F^irther, IRS decisions on who should be subject
to a collection action and the terms of resulting payment agreements are
not uniform nationwide. We must ensure that IRS collection operations
are fair and consistent in order to maintain the public trust and
increase voluntary compliance with our tax laws."

During the hearing, GAO will discuss issues raised in the following
six reports to the Subcommittee:

TAX ADMINISTRATION; Selected IRS Forms, Publications, and Notices Could
Be Improved (GAO/GGD-93-72) (April, 1993) Highlights the need for changes
to several of the most frequently used IRS forms and notices to improve
their clarity and usefulness.

TAX ADMINISTRATION: IRS Correspondence Needs To Continue Improving
(GAO/GGD-93-XX) (November, 1993) Highlights problems stemming from the
fact that more than half of the interim correspondence IRS sends to
taxpayers prior to making a final tax determination, is confusing,
inaccurate or inappropriate.

TAX ADMINISTRATION: Successful 1993 Filing Season Clouded By Increased
Fraud and Poor Taxpayer Access to IRS (GAO/GGD-93-XX) (November, 1993)
Highlights problems encountered during the most recent filing season,
including the decreasing availability of IRS telephone assistance for
taxpayers, and a decreasing level of voluntary compliance as evidenced by
the decline in the number of individual tax returns filed.

TAX ADMINISTRATION: New Delinquent Tax Collection Methods for IRS
(GAO/GGD-93-67) (May, 1993) Highlights inefficiencies in IRS collections
operations, noting that IRS follows a rigid three-stage collection
process which includes a series of notices over a six-month period and
levies on taxpayer funds before taxpayers are ever contacted personally,
for example by telephone, by IRS.



TAX ADMINISTRATION: Improved Staffing of IRS' Collection Function Would
Increase Productivity (GAO/GGD-93-97) (May, 1993) Highlights how staffing
imbalances in IRS district offices result in some districts pursuing a
broad range of small and large tax delinquencies, while in other
districts the same levels of tax delinquencies go uncollected.

TAX ADMINISTRATION: IRS Can Do More to Collect Taxes Labelled "Currently
Not Collectible" (GAO/GGD-94-2) (October, 1993) Highlights how the lack
of IRS guidelines for writing-off delinquent accounts as "currently not
collectible" results in allowing some taxpayers who earn more than
$70,000 annually to pay nothing toward their tax debt.

DETAILS FOR SDBKISSION OF WRITTEN COMMENTS ;

Persons submitting written comments for the printed record of
the hearing should submit six (6) copies by the close of
business, Friday, December 3, 1993, to Janice Mays, Chief Counsel
and Staff Director, Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of
Representatives, Room 1102 Longworth House Office Building,
Washington, D.C. 20515.

FORMATTING REQDIRBtENTS ;

Each jtateiTMnt prasanted for printin( to the Committae by a witness, any written statement or exhibit submitted
for the printed record or any written comments in response to a request for written comments must conform to the

guidelines listed below. Any statement or exhibit not in compliance with these guidelines will not be printed, but will be

maintained in the Committee flics for review and use by the Committee.

1. All statements and any accompanying exhibits for printing must be typed in single space on legal-siie paper

and may not exceed a total of 10 pages.

2. Copies of whoie documents submitted as exhibit material will not be accepted for printing Instead, exhibit

material should be referenced and quoted or paraphrased All exhibit material not meeting these specifications

will be maintained in the Committee Tiles for review and use by the Committee

3. Statements must contain the name and capacity in which the witness will appear or, for written comments,
the name and capacity of the person submitting the statement, as well as any clients or persons, or any

organization for wlwm the witness appears or for whom the statement is submitted.

4. A supplemental sheet must accompany each statement listing the name, full address, a telephone number
where the witness or the designated representative may be reached and a topical outline or summary of the

comments and recommendations in the full statement This supplemental sheet will not be included in the

printed record.

The above restrictions and limitations apply only to material being submitted for printing. Statements and exhibits

or supplenwntary material submitted solely for distribution to the Members, the press and the public during the course

of a public hearing may be submitted in other forms.
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Chairman PiCKLE. I would ask the subcommittee to please come
to order.

I have an opening statement and so does Mr. Houghton, and
then we will be glad to hear the statements from Ms. Stathis of the

GAO and any other experts who are here with us today. We are

glad to have all of you here.

Most, if not all, of the people in this room today have had some
personal contact with the Internal Revenue Service. This is true for

almost everyone in the country, unfortunately. Few look forward to

repeating their experience with IRS. Beyond just the pure "excite-

ment" of receiving a letter from the IRS and wondering if you are

going to have to pay more taxes, many face the very real dilemma
of trying to figure out what the IRS is talking about.

Too often taxpayers are faced with confusing or incomplete tax

forms and publications when attempting to file their tax returns.

When they write to IRS, the agency's response is inaccurate or in-

appropriate over half of the time. Even worse, when you try to call

IRS directly to straighten out the whole mess, you get a busy sig-

nal three out of four times.

In addition to the frustration of dealing with IRS bureaucracy,
there is the nagging suspicion that not everyone is paying their

taxes. IRS has an accounts receivable of over $131 billion. This
amount grows larger every year, so it is pretty clear that somebody
is not paying their taxes. And so we ask ourselves, what is IRS
doing to make sure that everybody pays their fair share? And the

answer is, not enough. In some cases, IRS has determined that tax-

payers with high incomes cannot afford to make payments on their

delinquent taxes, yet they have enough to pay for personal lux-

uries, and IRS allows it. Moreover, in some areas of the country,

IRS makes everyone pay their tax debts, while in other areas, large

delinquencies are all but ignored.

Over the past year and a half, the General Accounting Office

[GAO] has conducted extensive field investigations of the Internal

Revenue Service at the specific request of this committee. GAO's
testimony today provides a summary of the most important mat-
ters contained m these 16 different reports. IRS has taken positive

steps in reaction to GAO's findings and recommendations in some
cases; they have disagreed with GAO on other cases; and agreed
to implement some reiorms several years into the future. These are

serious problems that need action now. Taxpayers cannot wait sev-

eral years for better service. Before Congress adioums, this sub-

committee, I hope, will forward specific recommendations to the In-

ternal Revenue Service for their adoption or for their response in

some specific manner. We would expect the IRS to respond with
how and when they will take action to correct many of these prob-

lems.
Now the Chair will recognize Mr. Houghton. Mr. Houghton.
Mr. Houghton. Thank you, very much, Mr. Chairman.
Ladies and gentlemen, it's good to see you here today. I am

pleased to join Chairman Pickle in opening our hearing to consider

GAO reports and analyze the various IRS problems regarding tax-

payer communication.
The GAO, as you know far better than I, has completed more

than a dozen of these reports. They give a very detailed and nar-



row analysis of a variety of different issues. If you look at the re-

f)orts individually, they are interesting and very specific. But if you
ook at them collectively you can appreciate the overall message.
This is one of the things we are trying to do today, to take a look
at least at six of these reports and try to find out where we are
going; to step back a little and get a little perspective.

I used to be in business and I know that even a company with
a good product is going to falter if it has poor operational practices.
The only thing that I ask is that when we look at some of the er-

rors that have been made, as any human agency can make, that
we make sure that Congress has given the IRS the proper re-

sources to deal with the technical advances of today's world, specifi-

cally in the areas of taxpayer communication and collections.

Many of the GAO suggestions appear consistent with the Vice
President's plan of reinventing government. I hope they can be im-
plemented. I thank you very much for coming and look forward to
the testimony.
Chairman Pickle. We will now be glad to hear from the General

Accounting Office, and I presume, Ms. Stathis, you will make your
statement for GAO. Do these other individuals wish to have state-
ments or are they here to accompany you?
Ms. Stathis. No, they do not; they are here to help answer your

questions, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Pickle. If you will proceed, then. Are you going to be

following your outline; your copy?
Ms. Stathis. I will be following it, moving around through it,

and I will tell you when I am moving to a new section.

Chairman Pickle. Grood, if you will do that, we are glad to have
you.

STATEMENT OF JENNIE S. STATHIS, DIRECTOR, GENERAL
GOVERNMENT DIVISION, TAX POLICY AND ADMINISTRATION
ISSUES, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE, ACCOMPANIED
BY DAVID ATTIANESE, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, CHARLIE W.
DANIEL, ASSIGNMENT MANAGER, AND THOMAS VENEZIA,
ASSIGNMENT MANAGER, (CHICAGO REGIONAL OFFICE)

Ms. Stathis. On my left is David Attianese; on my right is Char-
lie Daniel; and, to his right, is Thomas Venezia from Chicago—the
other two are from Washington—and together they were respon-
sible for much of the work that we will be talking about today.
Chairman Pickle. Glad to have all of you.
Ms. Stathis. The first part of my statement focuses on collecting

tax debts.

The Federal Government has the opportunity to realize substan-
tial revenue from taxes already owed if IRS can more effectively

and efficiently carry out the process of collecting these debts.
Again, this year collection results were disappointing. Collection of
delinquent taxes declined from $24 billion to $23 billion.

At the end of fiscal year 1992, IRS' records show accounts receiv-

able totaling $131 billion. Of that amount, IRS estimated that $22
billion was collectible.

Now, moving to the next section, IRS needs to revisit some of the
accounts for which it has decided taxpayers cannot pay. The single
largest segment of accounts receivable is $52 billion in accounts



deemed "currently not collectible." District office staff now declare

more tax debts "currently not collectible" than they collect. Our re-

port to you on this topic is being released today. In that report, we
say that IRS is forgoing the potential to collect hundreds of mil-

lions of dollars because of poor work and poor performance.

We reviewed a sample of 107 of those accounts. We concluded the
actions taken were inadequate or at least questionable 55 percent
of the time. The more serious problem, in 12 percent of them, in-

volved failure to question living expenses and fully consider in-

come. The outcome is that some taxpayers who reported incomes
of more than $70,000 paid nothing toward their tax debts. And we
show two examples.

In the first one, married taxpayers with no dependents who
earned nearly $80,000 a year, owed $123,000 in back taxes. Their
financial statement showed expenses exceeding income by $275 a
month. IRS allowed as necessary expenses monthly life insurance
payments of $450 and over $900 in monthly payments on debts to

credit card companies and other creditors.

In the second example, married taxpayers with four dependents,
earning almost $80,000 a year, owed $75,000 in taxes. IRS allowed
a monthly mortgage expense of $1,800 and payments for two cars

totaling $950 as necessary and reasonable expenses.
Chairman PiCKLE. In either of those two cases, did they make

payments to the Internal Revenue Service?

Ms. Stathis, None.
Chairman PiCKLE. None.
Ms. Stathis. The collection staff have fairly vague guidance to

help make these decisions and their supervisors did not identify

and correct problems.
Now, the remainder of the "currently not collectible" decisions we

questioned were based on inadequate work or questionable, given
the available information, or did not fully provide for future collec-

tion potential.

In the first example IRS was not able to locate the taxpayer, but
the file indicated that the taxpayer had accounts with a number of

banks. These banks could have served as leads to locate the tax-

payer, but none were contacted for that purpose. The taxpayer
owed $130,000 in back taxes. His income exceeded expenses by
$115 a month. Instead of making an installment agreement, the
revenue officer closed the case as "currently not collectible."

A self-employed single taxpayer claimed living expenses that ex-

ceeded income by $670 a month. The file did not explain how that
could continue; but the case was simply closed as "currently not
collectible."

Chairman PiCKLE. And how much did they pay to the IRS?
Ms. Stathis. In all of these cases, they paid nothing. They were

closed as "currently not collectible."

Chairman Pickle. None.
Ms. Stathis. We also believe that IRS waits too long to follow

up on some cases. IRS puts a 65 week hold on reactivating ac-

counts. During this period, IRS does not review subsequent tax re-

turns.



We are making a number of recommendations in the report. IRS
has commented on the report and agreed, at least in principle, with
most of them.

Congress, too, may be able to influence the number of these
cases. Private firms measure collection success in terms of dollars

collected and a key premise is that incentives based on individual

performance motivate collectors. Tax law prohibits IRS from using
collection performance to evaluate, compensate or reward employ-
ees. Under IRS' evaluation system, accounts classified "currently

not collectible" are given the same weight as dollars collected. This
could have contributed to the growth in these accounts.

Congress, long concerned that collection performance might be
interpreted as quotas that might induce IRS staff to mistreat tax-

payers, added this provision in 1988 to protect taxpayers from such
actions. We believe that taxes collected is a reasonable basis on
which to judge employees whose job it is to collect taxes, as long
as other criteria, such as fair treatment are also evaluated.
Taxpayers who owe back taxes can also receive disparate treat-

ment just by the way IRS assigns staff.

In May 1993, we reported to you that IRS has not allocated staff

to maximize revenues and ensure that taxpayers in all parts of the
country are treated the same. Revenue officer staffing varies dra-
matically among the districts, not always in proportion to the work-
load. As a consequence, wide variations exist in tax debts worked
versus those kept in a queue. The range in fiscal year 1991 was
from one district that worked all cases to another that worked just
27 percent.

While we cannot disclose exact dollar thresholds, we can say that
taxpayers who owe substantial debts will not hear from a revenue
officer in some districts; but in others, IRS has the staff to follow

up on debts that are much smaller. Thus, delinquent taxpayers'

treatment depends on where they live. Such imbalances also affect

productivity. Collections per staff year in 1991 ranged in a low of

$175,000 in one district to a high of $775,000 in another.

IRS needs to quit relying on staff growth and attrition to elimi-

nate these imbalances. Instead, the agency needs a plan to maxi-
mize the collection of tax debts. But more fundamentally, IRS re-

lies too heavily on visits by revenue officers.

In a report to the subcommittee, we said that IRS needs to re-

vamp its collection process. It needs to place more emphasis on ac-

tivities early in the process at service centers and call sites and
less emphasis on district office activities.

Good business practice dictates that after a debt arises, efforts

are to be made to secure some type of payment agn'eement as

quickly as possible. IRS' process, nowever, is not based on this

premise. The IRS process involves three steps: First, the service

centers mail three to five computer generated bills at 30-day inter-

vals. If the taxpayer has not responded to the final notice, IRS lev-

ies any known bank accounts. In step two, IRS telephones the tax-

payer. In step three revenue officers visit the taxpayer.

The process is outdated, costly, and inefficient. A comparison
with private firms shows three ways it could be improved. First,

the process takes too long. Delinquencies in the private sector are
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usually closed after 180 days. By that time, IRS has probably not

even tried to telephone the taxpayer.

Second, the process is too rigid. IRS follows the same process for

virtually all types of accounts, regardless of the taxpayer's compli-

ance history.

Third, the process relies too heavily on step three, visits by reve-

nue officers. IRS has allocated almost two-thirds of its collection

staff to this step. Private companies avoid personal contact because
of the cost and potential dangers. IRS' own data show that, on av-

erage, call site collectors are more productive. In 1991, each call

site collector averaged $1.5 million in collections while each reve-

nue officer averaged $331,000.
In addition to improving the collection of back taxes, IRS needs

to better communicate with taxpayers who are trying to file and
pay their taxes.

In moving down to filing tax returns, which is the first topic in

this section, at the subcommittee's request, we monitored the 1993
filing season, and 1993 was an unusual year. By April 30, about
2 million fewer taxpayers had filed returns than the year before.

Considering that the number usually grows each year, the number
of filers was about 3.7 million fewer than IRS expected.

The main reason for this appears to be the change in the 1992
withholding tables. That change caused more taxpayers to owe
taxes and fewer to receive refunds. IRS' current analysis shows
that about 1.2 million taxpayers so affected did not file their re-

turns, even though IRS made it much easier to pay by install-

ments.
Now, telephone access was another filing season problem. IRS

data indicated that taxpayers who called had a good chance this

year of getting a correct answer to tax law questions; but their

chances of getting through to ask questions were poor. People who
called had a one in four chance of getting through—even worse
than the one in three chance we reported for 1992.

Efforts to answer more calls by upgrading telephone equipment
have been offset by reductions in staff and a larger number of calls,

the net effect being a continuing erosion of service. IRS plans to

merge various telephone operations, shift calls and automate some
answers.
These changes will not be fully implemented before 1996. Mean-

while, demands for telephone service will likely grow in response
to the recent tax law changes.

Electronic filing fraud is another problem that grew in 1993. Al-

though the number of identified fraudulent returns is small in ab-

solute terms, the rate of growth is not. Through the first 8 months
of 1993, IRS identified more than 23,000 fraudulent electronic re-

turns—100 percent more than during the same period last year. Pt
least some of the growth may be due to IRS steps to improve detec-

tion of fraud.

What makes electronic filing such an appealing target for fraud
is the speed with which perpetrators can get their money—about
2 weeks under normal procedures and even faster if the filer gets

a refund anticipation loan. And because of this timing, IRS is less

likely to stop the refund.
Now, the next section addresses IRS correspondence.



One of the main ways taxpayers communicate with IRS is

through the mail. Each year, IRS receives about 20 milHon pieces

of correspondence. At the subcommittee's request, we assessed IRS'

efforts to improve its correspondence. Our assessment indicates

that the correspondence has improved, nonetheless, problems still

exist. Our analysis of almost 1,900 letters showed that 15 percent

were incorrect, unclear, incomplete or nonresponsive; and 11 per-

cent came from taxpayers trying to resolve something left unre-
solved during earlier contacts.

Another sample of 261 interim letters showed that half were un-
clear or not responsive to the taxpayers' reason for writing. Prob-
lems such as tnese increase cost, frustrate taxpayers and ulti-

mately hinder compliance with the tax laws.

Now, we have three examples. A Spanish speaking taxpayer cor-

responded with IRS using Spanish language forms. IRS appro-

priately sent the taxpayer an interim response in Spanish explain-

ing that more time was needed to address the questions. Unfortu-
nately, when IRS completed its work, it responded in English.

The second example is a divorced taxpayer who askedf for copies

of joint returns filed while she was still married. Instead of sending
the returns to the taxpayer making the request, IRS sent copies to

the ex-spouse. This occurred because the ex-spouse had the pri-

mary Social Security number on the account and IRS sent the re-

turns to the address of record.

The third example is a taxpayer who wrote IRS inquiring if he
could combine monthly payments for three tax periods into one.

IRS responded with an interim letter that thanked the taxpayer for

the information submitted. Now, we believe this response was po-

tentially confusing because the taxpayer was not submitting infor-

mation but in fact was making an inquiry about his payment plan.

One IRS objective is to resolve more taxpayer issues over the

phone. But before telling taxpayers to call instead of write, IRS
must make it easier for taxpayers to get through by phone.

At the subcommittee's request, we recently examined 17 common
forms and publications and suggested more than 50 ways to make
them easier to understand and use. Generally, we suggested more
specific language, consistent terminology, and more references to

other forms and publications, and IRS has agreed with most of

those suggestions.

We also looked at 21 computer-generated notices IRS sends to

taxpayers. We suggested changes to make five of them easier to un-

derstand. The most significant of those changes concerns the way
taxpayer account information is displayed. This information ofi:en

appears as a section called "Your Tax Statement." The format we
suggested would more clearly compare data reported on the tax-

payer's return with IRS' proposed adjustment. IRS said that this

change could not be made before 1995 because of limitations in

computer programming and printing.

In requesting this series of GAO reviews, the subcommittee has
focused on two of IRS' more vital roles: Collecting back taxes and
communicating with taxpayers who are trying to fulfill their tax

obligations. As results of our work point out, it is essential that

IRS make fundamental changes to collect more back taxes. IRS
netds to emphasize earlier contacts with taxpayers, tailor its ac-
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tions to the taxpayers' compliance history, and more effectively al-

locate collection staff. In addition, IRS needs to develop better guid-
ance for making "currently not collectible" determinations and im-
prove its monitoring of those accounts. We also believe Congress
should reconsider the present constraints in evaluating collection

staff performance.
A successful filing season is dependent on IRS' ability to effec-

tively help taxpayers meet their filing obligations. One way for IRS
to do this is to be more responsive to taxpayers' correspondence
and make its many forms, publications, and notices easier to un-
derstand. The 1993 filing season was marked by one surprising de-
velopment—a reduction in the number of returns filed. It also saw
the continuation of two disturbing trends—more fraudulent elec-

tronic refund claims and less access to IRS by telephone. The chal-
lenge for IRS is to reverse these trends in tne next filing season.
That concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman. We will be pleased

to answer your questions.
Chairman PiCKLE. I thank j'ou, Ms. Stathis, for your report.

[The prepared statement and attachment follow:]
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COLLECTING DELINQUENT TAXES
AND COMMUNICATING WITH TAXPAYERS

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF
JENNIE S. STATHIS

DIRECTOR, TAX POLICY AND ADMINISTRATION ISSUES
GENERAL GOVERNMENT DIVISION

U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE

GAO recently completed reviews for the Subcommittee on Oversight
on the way IRS collects tax debts, processes tax returns, and
communicates with taxpayers. GAO identified opportunities to
increase revenues, treat taxpayers more evenly, reduce taxpayer
frustration, and cut down the need for repetitive contacts to
resolve tax questions. If IRS implements GAO's recommendations,
major improvements should result in the collection of back taxes
and in taxpayer relations.

For the third consecutive year, IRS' collection of delinquent
taxes declined in 1993. GAO believes that increased collections
may be achieved from delinquent tax accounts that IRS has deemed
"currently not collectible." Questionable work and faulty
monitoring systems have allowed taxpayers earning more than
$70,000 to pay nothing towards their tax debts. IRS' uneven
staffing and antiquated collection process don't help the
situation. With staffing imbalances, the extent of collection
action may vary depending on where a taxpayer lives. Thus, the
amount of revenues collected per staff year varies considerably
among IRS districts. More fundamental changes are needed in the
collection process, with more emphasis on earlier telephone
contact, tailoring actions to the taxpayer's situation, and
evaluating Collection staff performance.

GAO found that the 1993 tax filing season, while generally
successful, was clouded by a few problems. About 2 million fewer
returns were filed in 1993 than 1992. The main reason for this
appears to be the revised 1992 withholding tables which resulted
in more taxpayers owing taxes at the end of the year. Also,
electronic filing fraud grew in 1993. In the first 8 months of
1993, IRS identified 100 percent more fraudulent electronically-
filed returns than in 1992. One reason may be IRS' improved
detection; however, no one knows how much fraud is not being
detected. Also, taxpayers continued to have problems calling
IRS. In 1993 taxpayers had a 1 in 4 chance of getting through to
an IRS asslstor--even worse than the 1 in 3 chance the year
before.

Written communication is another continuing problem. Inaccurate,
incomplete, confusing, and late responses to taxpayers continue
to be problems for IRS. Forms, notices, and publications are
also of concern and GAO suggested 59 changes to 19 of the
commonly-used ones. IRS has made many of the suggested changes
in forms and publications but will not be able to clarify the
notices before 1995 because of computer constraints.
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

We appreciate the opportunity to be here today to highlight our
work for the Subcommittee this year on Internal Revenue Service
(IRS) programs.- My statement has two sections. The first
focuses on what IRS can do to collect more tax debts and at the
same time treat similarly situated taxpayers the same. The
second shows some of the difficulties taxpayers have in filing
returns and communicating with the IRS--areas also in need of
improvement

.

COLLECTING TAX DEBTS

The federal government has the opportunity to realize substantial
revenue from taxes already owed if IRS can more effectively and
efficiently carry out the process of collecting those debts.
Again this year, collection results were disappointing. For the
third fiscal year in a row, IRS' collections of delinquent taxes
declined--from $24.2 billion in 1992 to $22.8 billion in 1993.

At the end of fiscal year 1992, IRS' records showed gross
accounts receivable totaling $131 billion. Of that amount, IRS
estimated that $22 billion was collectible. The larger number
reflects IRS' collection workload--accounts that must be resolved
one way or another, either by attempting collection or correcting
the records. But, because of errors and deliberate
overstatements, as much 35 to 40 percent of the recorded balance
is invalid. Other accounts constitute real taxpayer debts but
are uncollectible because IRS cannot find the delinquent
taxpayers or believes they cannot pay. Thus, the smaller number
is IRS' estimate of the amount the government could realize.

But IRS needs to revisit some of the accounts for which it has
decided the taxpayers cannot pay.

Some "Currently Not Collectible" Accounts May Be Collectible

The single largest segment of the accounts receivable inventory--
and one of its fastest growing portions--is $52 billion in
accounts IRS deems "currently not collectible." District office
staff now declare more tax debt "currently not collectible" than
they collect. Our report^ to you on IRS' management of these
accounts will be released today. In that report, we said that
IRS is forgoing the potential to collect hundreds of millions of
dollars because of poor work and poor procedures.

We reviewed a sample of 107 individual taxpayer accounts that
five IRS district offices classified "currently not collectible"
in August and September 1991. We concluded the collection
actions taken by IRS were inadequate or at least questionable 55
percent of the time. The more serious problem--in 12 percent of
the cases--involved IRS' failure to question taxpayers' living
expenses and fully consider their income. The outcome is that
some taxpayers who reported incomes of more than $70,000 pay
nothing towards their tax debts. The following examples
illustrate these cases.

-- Married taxpayers with no dependents, who earned nearly
$80,000 a year, owed $123,000 in back taxes. Their financial
statement showed expenses that exceeded Income by almost $275
a month. IRS allowed as necessary living expenses monthly
life insurance payments of $450 and over $900 in monthly
payments on debts to credit card companies and other
creditors

.

^Appendix I lists GAO tax-related work recently completed for
this Subcommittee.

^Tax Administration: IRS Can Do More to Collect Taxes Labelled
"Currently Not Collectible " (GAO/GGD-94-2 , Oct. 8, 1993).
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-- Married taxpayers with four dependents, earning almost $80,000
a year, owed $75,000 in taxes for 1984 through 1990. IRS
allowed a monthly mortgage expense of $1,800 and payments for
two cars totaling $950 as necessary and reasonable living
expenses

.

Collection employees are to obtain financial information from the
taxpayer's current tax return, and third parties, such as
employers and financial institutions, to determine the taxpayer's
ability to pay taxes owed. Collection staff are also to consider
what the taxpayer's reasonable and necessary living expenses
should be. But the Collection staff have fairly vague guidance
to help make these decisions and their supervisors did not
identify and correct problems. As a result, IRS permitted
taxpayers who reported substantial incomes to pay nothing towards
their tax debts when installment payments may have been more
appropriate. Allowing some taxpayers to avoid paying back taxes
by choosing a more comfortable lifestyle is unfair to all those
taxpayers who live within their means and pay their taxes.

The remainder of the "currently not collectible" decisions we
questioned were based on inadequate work, were questionable given
the available information, or did not fully provide for future
collection potential. Examples follow.

-- IRS was unable to locate the delinquent taxpayer. However,
the file indicated that the taxpayer had accounts at one time
with a number of banks. These banks could have served as
leads to locate the taxpayer. However, the banks were not
contacted for that purpose; and the case was closed as
"currently not collectible."

-- A taxpayer owed $130,000 in back taxes assessed against
profits from criminal activities. His current income exceeded
expenses by $115 a month. Instead of making an installment
agreement, the revenue officer closed the case as "currently
not collectible."

-- A self-employed single taxpayer claimed living expenses that
exceeded income by $670 a month. The file did not explain how
this could continue; but the case was closed as "currently not
collectible.

"

We also believe that IRS waits too long to follow up on some
cases. IRS puts a 65-week hold on reactivating accounts. During
this period, IRS does not review subsequent tax returns for
increased income. We analyzed over 300,000 such accounts and
found that in almost 36,000, totaling $250 million in delinquent
taxes, the taxpayer had filed a new tax return showing
substantial income. Yet the hold period precluded timely
followup.

We made a number of recommendations in the report. IRS has
agreed, at least in principle, with most of them. IRS promised
action to address the issue of lifestyle choices involved in

reasonable living expenses and committed to long-term
improvements in the management of "currently not collectible"
accounts. IRS did not agree to eliminate the 65-week
reactivation hold because it precluded the premature reactivation
of some cases.

Congress, too, may be able to influence the number of cases
closed as "currently not collectible." Private firms measure
their collection success in terms of dollars collected, and a key
premise is that incentives based on individual collection
performance motivate collectors.^ Tax law prohibits IRS from

^Tax Administration: New Delinquent Tax Collection Methods for
IRS (GAO/GGD-9 3-67, May 11, 1993).
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using performance statistics to evaluate, compensate, or reward
employees. Under IRS' staff evaluation system, accounts
classified "currently not collectible" are given the same weight
as dollars collected. This could have contributed to the growth
in accounts being closed as "currently not collectible."

Congress, long concerned that collection performance might be
interpreted as quotas that might induce IRS staff to mistreat
taxpayers, added this provision in 1988 to protect taxpayers from
such actions. We said then, and continue to believe now, that
taxes collected is a reasonable basis on which to judge the
performance of employees whose job it is to collect taxes, as
long as other criteria, such as fair and courteous treatment of
taxpayers, are also evaluated. The provision might be changed to
specify prohibited behaviors that would be grounds for employee
dismissal or other forms of discipline, rather than prohibiting
the use of performance statistics as a management tool.

Taxpayers who owe back taxes can also receive disparate treatment
just by the way IRS assigns its staff.

Uneven Staffing

In May 1993* we reported to you that IRS has not allocated its
staff to maximize revenues and ensure that taxpayers in all parts
of the country are treated the same. Revenue officer staffing
varies dramatically among district offices, not always in
proportion to the workload. As a consequence, wide variations
exist in tax debts "worked" versus those kept in a queue--
accounts waiting to be assigned to revenue officers. The range
in fiscal year 1991 was from one district that worked all
delinquent tax cases to another that worked just 27 percent. In
two districts, the dollar amounts of delinquencies that triggered
collection actions were more than 10 times higher than amounts in
seven others.

While we cannot disclose exact dollar thresholds, we can say that
taxpayers who owe substantial debts will not hear from a revenue
officer in some districts; but in other districts IRS has the
staff to follow up debts that are much smaller. Thus, delinquent
taxpayers' treatment depends on where they live. Taxpayers who
reside in places like Wyoming may feel the full force of IRS'
collection enforcement efforts while taxpayers living in New York
may not. Such Imbalances affect productivity. Collections per
staff year in fiscal year 1991 ranged from a low of $175,000 in
one district to a high of $775,000 in another.

IRS needs to quit relying on overall staff growth and attrition
as the primary means of eliminating district staffing imbalances.
Instead, the agency needs to develop a plan to maximize the
collection of tax debts, using staff productivity measures in
determining the most appropriate allocation of staff. To be most
efficient, the increase in productivity achieved by adding the
next staff person should be the same for each location.

Antiquated Process

But, more fundamentally, IRS relies too heavily on visits by
revenue officers to collect tax debts. In reporting to the
Subcommittee on alternative collection strategies, we said that
IRS needs to revamp its collection process. It needs to place
more emphasis on collection activities early in the process at
the service centers and call sites and less emphasis on district
office collection activities.^

"Tax Administration: Improved Staffing of IRS' Collection
Function Would Increase Productivity (GAO/GGD-93-97 , May 5,
1993)

.

^GAO/GGD-9 3-67.
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Good business practice dictates that after a debt arises, efforts
be made to secure some type of payment agreement as quickly as
possible. IRS' decades-old collection process, however, is not
based on this premise. The IRS collection process involves three
steps. In step one, IRS service centers mail the taxpayer a
series of three to five computer-generated bills, at 30-day
intervals. If the taxpayer has not responded to the final
notice, IRS levies any known bank accounts. In step two, IRS
call sites telephone the taxpayer to collect the money or
otherwise resolve the debt. In step three, revenue officers
visit the taxpayer.

The process is outdated, costly, and inefficient. A comparison
with private debt collectors shows three ways it could be
improved. First, the process takes too long. Delinquencies in
the private sector are usually closed after 180 days. By that
time, IRS has probably not even tried to telephone the taxpayer,
a tactic private sector companies employ very early in their
collection process.

Second, the process is too rigid. IRS follows the same three-
step process for virtually all types of accounts, regardless of
the taxpayer's compliance history.

Third, the process relies too heavily on step three, visits by
revenue officers. IRS has allocated almost two-thirds of its
Collection staff to this step. Private sector companies avoid
personal contact because of the cost and potential dangers
involved. IRS' own data show that on average, call site
collectors are more productive than the revenue officers. In
fiscal year 1991, each call site collector averaged $1.5 million
in collections while each revenue officer averaged $331,000 in
collections

.

In addition to improving the collection of back taxes, IRS needs
to better communicate with taxpayers who are trying to file and
pay their taxes.

TAXPAYERS ENCOUNTER PROBLEMS IN COMMUNICATING WITH IRS

Other work for the Subcommittee focused upon a variety of
problems taxpayers face when trying to file and pay taxes.
Taxpayers' chances of reaching the IRS by telephone during the
filing season worsened. The growth of electronically-filed
returns led to a related increase in fraudulent returns. IRS
correspondence with taxpayers continues to be a troublesome area.
IRS letters to taxpayers are often inappropriate, unclear, and
late. Tax forms, publications, and notices, while accurate,
often need to be made more understandable to the taxpayer.

Now I would like to discuss each of these problems in greater
detail.

Filing Tax Returns

At the Subcommittee's request, we assessed IRS' performance
during the 1993 filing season. As discussed more fully in a

report to be issued next month, 199 3 was an unusual year. By
April 30, about 2 million fewer taxpayers filed returns than the
year before. Considering that the number of returns usually
grows each year, the number of filers was about 3.7 million fewer
than IRS expected. The main reason for fewer filers appears to
be the change to the 1992 withholding tables; this change caused
more taxpayers to owe taxes and fewer to receive refunds.
According to IRS' current analysis, about 1.2 million taxpayers
so affected did not file their returns, even though IRS made it
much easier to pay by installments. IRS expects to complete its
study of this problem in December 1993.
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Telephone Accessibility

IRS data indicate that taxpayers who call IRS have a good chance
of getting a correct answer to their tax law questions; but their
chances of getting through to ask those questions are poor.
People who called during the 1993 filing season, for example,
had a 1 in 4 chance of getting through--even worse than the 1 in
3 chance we reported for 1992.

Efforts to answer more calls, by upgrading telephone equipment,
have been offset by reductions in staff and a larger number of
calls--the net effect being a continuing erosion of telephone
service. To counter this trend, IRS plans to merge various
telephone operations, shift calls to locations where assistors
are available, and automate answers to routine inquiries.

These changes will not be fully implemented before 1996.
Meanwhile, demand for telephone service will likely grow in
response to recent tax law changes, especially those affecting
the Earned Income Credit. This credit has been a traditional
source of taxpayer confusion, and with more taxpayers now
eligible, IRS can expect more calls for help.

Electronic Filing Fraud

Electronic filing fraud is another problem that grew in 1993.
Although the number of identified fraudulent returns is small in
absolute terms, the rate of growth is not. Through the first 8

months of 1993, IRS had identified more than 23,000 fraudulent
electronic returns-- 100 percent more than during the same period
last year. Conversely, the number of returns filed
electronically grew by only 14 percent. At least some of the
growth in identified fraud may be due to the fact that IRS took
various steps in 1993 to improve its detection of fraud. It
seems clear that the harder IRS looks for fraud, the more it
finds. And no one knows how much is not being found.

What makes electronic filing such an appealing target for fraud
is the speed with which perpetrators can get their money--about 2

weeks under normal procedures and even faster if the filer gets a
Refund Anticipation Loan. And, because of this timing, IRS is
less likely to stop the refund. Of the $48.9 million claimed in
the 23,000 fraudulent returns, IRS was able to stop only $28.3
million.

With electronic fraud, as with telephone access, changes in the
Earned Income Credit may increase IRS' problems. IRS' analysis
of the 23,413 fraudulent electronic returns showed that all but
344 involved the Earned Income Credit.

Our comments here and earlier are not intended to question the
appropriateness of expanding the credit. Our intent is to show
that IRS needs to continue dealing with telephone service and
fraud problems. Cur report will make several recommendations
that should assist IRS with regard to the fraud issue.

IRS Correspondence With Taxpayers

One of the main ways taxpayers communicate with IRS is through
the mail. Each year, IRS receives upwards of 20 million pieces
of correspondence from taxpayers. They write to respond to a
notice or letter from IRS about a balance due, failure to file a
return, or discrepancy in reported income. They also write to
inquire about refunds, ask for an installment agreement, or
request a penalty abatement.

Over the last 6 years, IRS has been criticized for sending
delayed, inaccurate, incomplete, and confusing responses to
taxpayers. At the Subcommittee's request, we assessed IRS'
efforts to improve its correspondence.
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Our assessment indicates that IRS' correspondence has improved.
Nonetheless, problems still exist. Our analysis of almost 1,900
IRS letters showed that 15 percent were incorrect, unclear,
incomplete, or nonresponsive ; and 11 percent came from taxpayers
trying to resolve something left unresolved during earlier
contacts with IRS. Another sample of 261 "interim" letters--
letters IRS sent to advise taxpayers it needed more time to
respond--showed that half were unclear or not responsive to the
taxpayers' reason for writing. Problems such as these increase
IRS' costs, frustrate taxpayers, and ultimately hinder compliance
with the tax laws.

-- A Spanish speaking taxpayer corresponded with IRS using
Spanish language forms from IRS. IRS appropriately sent the
taxpayer an interim response in Spanish explaining that more
time was needed to address the taxpayer's questions.
Unfortunately, when IRS completed its work, it responded in
English. IRS officials speculated that the English response
was sent because different IRS offices handled the interim and
final responses and the last office to respond made an error.

-- A divorced taxpayer asked for copies of joint returns filed
while she was still married. Instead of sending the returns
to the taxpayer making the request, IRS sent copies of the
return to the divorced spouse. This occurred because the ex-
spouse had the primary social security number on the account
and IRS sent the returns to the address of record.

-- A taxpayer wrote IRS inquiring if he could combine monthly
payments for three tax periods into one. IRS responded with
an interim letter that thanked the taxpayer for the
information submitted. We believe this response was
potentially confusing because the taxpayer was not submitting
information, but in fact was making an inquiry about his
existing payment plan.

One IRS objective is to resolve more taxpayer issues over the
phone. Although not all matters can be resolved by phone, IRS
believes that it is usually to the taxpayer's and IRS' benefit to
use the phone when possible. Our results support the potential
for greater phone usage. About 38 percent of the 1,900 taxpayers
in our seimple wrote IRS when they could have called and gotten an
answer over the phone, in part because IRS does not tell
taxpayers when a phone call will suffice. Before telling
taxpayers to call instead of write, however, IRS must make it
easier for taxpayers to get through by phone.

Our report will recommend a number of steps IRS can take to
improve these and other correspondence problems.

Forms. Publications, and Notices

At the Subcommittee's request, we recently examined 17 commonly-
used forms and publications and suggested more than 50 ways to

make these documents easier for taxpayers to understand and use.
Generally, we suggested more specific language, consistent
terminology, and more references to other forms and publications.
IRS agreed with most of our suggestions and is making the
changes.

We also looked at 21 computer-generated notices IRS sends to
taxpayers. We suggested changes to make five of these notices
easier for taxpayers to understand. The most significant of
these changes concerns the way taxpayer account information is

displayed on many notices. This information often appears as a

section called "Your Tax Statement." The format we suggested
would more clearly compare data reported on the taxpayer's return
with IRS' proposed adjustment. Information would be extracted
from a taxpayer's return and shown alongside IRS' proposed
adjustment. While agreeing to clarify the notices, IRS said that
most changes could not be made until 1995 at the earliest because
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of limitations in IRS' current computer programming and printing
capabilities

.

We are continuing to study this aspect of the agency's
communications with taxpayers at the Subcommittee's request. We
are analyzing another group of notices for clarity and evaluating
IRS' process for developing forms, publications, and notices.

CONCLUSIONS

In requesting this series of GAO reviews, the Subcommittee has
focused on two of IRS' more vital roles--collecting back taxes
and communicating with taxpayers who are trying to fulfill their
tax obligations. As the results of our work clearly point out,
it is essential that IRS make fundamental changes to collect more
back taxes. IRS needs to emphasize earlier contacts with
taxpayers, tailor its actions to the taxpayers' compliance
history, and more effectively allocate collection staff. In
addition, IRS needs to develop better guidance for making
"currently not collectible" determinations and improve its
monitoring of these accounts. We also believe Congress should
reconsider present constraints in evaluating collection staff
performance

.

A successful filing season is dependent on IRS' ability to
effectively help taxpayers meet their filing obligations. One
way for IRS to do this is to be more responsive to taxpayers'
correspondence and make its many forms, publications, and notices
easier to understand. The 1993 filing season was marked by one
surprising development--a reduction in the number of returns
filed. It also saw the continuation of two disturbing trends--
more fraudulent electronic refund claims and less access to IRS
by telephone. The challenge for IRS is to reverse these trends
in the next filing season.

This concludes my statement. We welcome any questions that you
may have.
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(GAO/GGD-93-22, Nov. 24, 1992)
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High-Risk Areas (GAO/T-AFMD-93-1, Feb. 3, 1993)

Tax Administration: Delayed Tax Deposits Continue to Cause Lost
Interest for the Government (GAO/GGD-93-64 , Mar. 22, 1993)

IRS-Customs Data Systems Exchange (GAO/GGD-93-33R, Apr. 6, 1993)

Tax Administration: Information on Tax Counseling for the
Elderly Program (GAO/GGD-93-90BR, Apr. 8, 1993)

Tax Administration: Examples of Waste and Inefficiency in IRS
(GAO/GGD-93-lOOFS, Apr. 27, 1993)

IRS Correspondence (GAO/GGD-93-38R, Apr. 27, 1993)

Tax Administration: IRS' Budget Reguest For Fiscal Year 1994
(GAO/T-GGD-93-23, Apr. 28, 1993)

Tax Administration: Selected IRS Forms, Publications, and
Notices Could Be Improved (GAO/GGD-93-7 2 , Apr. 30, 1993)

Tax Administration: Recurring Tax Issues Tracked by IRS' Office
of Appeals (GAO/GGD-93-101, May 4, 1993)

Tax Administration: Improved Staffing of IRS' Collection
Function Would Increase Productivity (GAO/GGD-93-97, May 5, 1993)

Tax Administration: New Delinguent Tax Collection Methods for
IRS (GAO/GGD-93-67, May 11, 1993)

IRS' ADP Organization (GAO/GGD-93-37R, May 25, 1993)

Corporate Taxes: Many Benefits and Few Costs to Reporting Net
Operating Loss Carryover {GAO/GGD-93-131 , Sep. 23, 1993)

Tax Administration: IRS Can Do More to Collect Taxes Labelled
"Currently Not Collectible" (GAO/GGD-94-2, Oct. 8, 1993)

(268629)
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Chairman PiCKLE. At the outset, I want to say that when we di-

rected you or asked you to make this survey, we wanted some
frank response about the specific examples, and you have given us
that information.

I am afraid this kind of a hearing does not have much glamour
to it. And the press, who are normally here, they are not here be-

cause there is not much glamour in talking about forms and proce-

dures and practices. But the examples you give us are concrete and
real, and I would say on the surface tnat this is an indictment of

the Internal Revenue Service and the processes that they are
using; that they could do a much better job.

We do not have the Internal Revenue Service before us today,

but we will be talking to them, as we have been doing, and I as-

sume you have also been talking to them. As we go through these
different reports this morning, I want you to always try to tell me
what the Internal Revenue Service has said to you or to your staff

people in making these corrections.

I think, in all fairness, if you were to audit my office, you would
find me less than 100 percent perfect in my correspondence. Near-
ly, but not altogether. But that is true of everybody else. So errors

are going to slip through the crack and sometimes responses are
going to be ridiculous and that is embarrassing when that happens.
So I recognize in the beginning that what you have given us exam-
ples of are what you have picked up over a period of your survey,

the time of your survey.
And it may sound like this is overblowing or accentuating the

negative, but, at the same time, the examples you give us are
there, they are real, and they are being repeated over and over and
over. With our having a huge staff down the street of hundreds of

people who are supposed to oe working on forms and other things,

somehow we keep repeating the same things and the same bogged
down procedures exist. And that is why people, who are angry to

begin with, when they get an improper answer, want to say to ev-

erybody in creation, let me tell you what the stupid IRS sent me.
Whether that is fair or not, that is a fact.

So I want to walk through with you some of these things, to ask
questions, and see what response you have. First, let me ask you
with respect to your report number one. This is pertaining to the
IRS forms, publications and notices.

Now, you have given us some background on it, but let me repeat
that IRS has issued nearly 400 forms and accompanying instruc-

tions, approximately 100 publications and has an inventory of over
3,000 standard notices. You, GAO, recently examined about 27 of

these forms and made over 50 recommendations to make these doc-

uments easier for taxpayers to understand.
Now, the changes that GAO suggested were directed toward the

use of more specific language consistent with what you stated.

Now, giving you an example, I don't think you gave me this, but
you said on Instruction Form 2119, Sale of Your Home, you pointed
out it was not clear if the term "sold" meant a date a contract was
accepted from buyer or the date the title was transferred. You
made that suggestion to them. What did IRS say to you?
Ms. Stathis. On that particular example, I believe IRS agreed

and has either made or will make that change.
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Chairman PiCKLE. That they will do it. So that one was done,
then.

All right. Now, you looked at a number of computer-generated
notices that IRS sent to taxpayers advising them of the status of

their accounts, and you gave several suggestions to enhance their
understandability. Now, you made some recommendations in that
particular area. Did you get any response from IRS about the
forms?
Ms. Stathis. On the notices, the most important change we are

recommending is in the format of a particular section called "Your
Tax Statement." For that particular one, IRS says it will not be
able to make that change before 1995, at the earliest, because of

its printing and computer capabilities.

Apparently, it is using pretty old equipment and there are mil-
lions of these notices that come out.

Chairman Pickle. Well, this is 1993, but you made the survey
in 1992; is that correct?
Ms. Stathis. That is correct.

Chairman PiCKLE. So they say they will do this in 1995. So that
is 3 years later thev would change the forms. I guess that is ques-
tionable whether tney can do it quicker. Seems to me like they
could move it up 1 year. Is it because of old equipment primarily?
Ms. Stathis, That is right. As part of the tax system's mod-

ernization, they are planning to bring online different equipment in

different years, and they believe the equipment they will bring on-
line in 1995 will allow them to make those changes. The changes
would provide a column that shows what is on your return and
then what IRS is proposing so you can see exactly where IRS
wants to make changes in your return.
Chairman Pickle. My question to you is, is there a valid reason

for not changing these forms before 1995?
Ms. Stathis. Well, it would require some outlay of money and I

am not sure whether the timing is such that they could do it much
before then even if they had the equipment. It takes—what they
are using now requires a fairly extensive programming change.
Chairman PiCKLE. Won't compliance suffer if you wait until

1995? If they say we will wait until 1995, it ends up being 1996.

Ms. Stathis. It certainly does not help taxpayers understand
what IRS wants them to do.

Chairman Pickle. Well, does the Internal Revenue Service,

based on your survey down there, does the IRS have adequate pro-

cedures in place to ensure that forms and notices are clear and un-
derstandable?
Ms. Stathis. That is the part of our review that we are currently

doing for you, Mr. Chairman, and we expect to have recommenda-
tions to you on that by next spring.

Chairman PiCKLE. Well, I would like to have those things, and
I will yield to Mr. Houghton for some questions. Thank yo"u.

Mr. Houghton. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The issue that I keep wrestling with is what is the problem here?

Is it lack of capital; is it lack of objectives of where we are going;

looking over the next hill; the vision; or whether it is just bad man-
agement? It almost seems they are damned if they do and they are
damned if they don't.



22

Here they are moving toward electronic filing and yet, at the
same time, you say that is great but still it makes it very easy for

people to commit fraud. They upgrade their telephone equipment,
yet at the same time because of the cost squeeze they have to re-

duce their staffs. So they nullify that.

Then you said here on page 16 that, obviously, it is important
to make documents easier for taxpayers to understand and use. We
all feel that very strongly. And yet there are limitations on the
computer programming and printing capabilities.

So, again, it is like the pawnbroker. I mean, is it their attitude
and objectives, is it management, is it lack of capital? Because
something is happening here where they are tripping over them-
selves trying to do a good job and it just doesn't seem to come out
the way you or we want it to. Maybe you can respond to that.

Ms. Stathis. The electronic filing fraud is probably a good exam-
ple, Mr. Houghton. It is absolutely essential that we get more re-

turns filed electronically. We really need to work on that, and that
is really one of the main ways that the IRS of the future is going
to be able to save money and provide better service. So that abso-
lutely has to happen.
But in devising that particular system, it was as though not

enough thought was given to all of the risk and how to design the
system to avoid the risk in the beginning. So each year IRS is play-
ing catchup as something else happens and they are adjusting the
process or the system a little bit to try to plug that leak. And I

think there needs to be more systematic thought given to not only
how we can encourage more people to file electronically, but how
we will protect the government's interest as we do that.

So I think it probably is a combination of all the things you men-
tioned; that there are system constraints, but there are planning
issues that have to be given more thought, but there are also re-

source constraints as well.

Mr. Houghton. Let me just finish up with one other observation,
and maybe it is a question, Mr. Chairman.

Periodically, in sort of the evolution of a service or a product, you
have to really do something entirely different. You have seen it

over the years in terms of a variety of different technologies. You
try to take hand operations and move them to mechanical, and
then you take the mechanical and go to more electronic processing
or automated research. I wonder whether they are not trying to

run faster, do better and be good civil servants with the same proc-

esses that they have had in the past. I don't make this as an obser-

vation with any great clairvoyance, but a friend of mine is the head
of the tax section of the American Bar Association, and for the first

time last year he had to have a lawyer do his tax forms.
So maybe these people are trying to do what is right, but must

take an entirely different look in terms of the whole complicated
process of getting information back and forth. What do you think
about that?
Ms. Stathis. I think that that is a pretty important point that

you are making, and it is probably true not only of the IRS but of

all of us, and particularly in large organizations. You are used to

a certain paradigm, you are used to doing thin^ a particular way,
and so it is a little difficult to think about a different way of doing
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things. That is what we are talking about in the collection area,

where there is a paradigm there that for years they have gone
through a particular process to collect back taixes, and that needs
a very fundamental reengineering, if you will, to think about how
to do that.

Mr. Houghton. If I can make a further comment, Mr. Chairman.
I don't mean to step over the boimdary of what is congressional re-

sponsibility and what is operating responsibilities, but, at the same
time, I wonder whether it would not be helpful for us to in the

process of venting these various hearings to come up with a couple

of touchstones which might look toward the next 20 years; whether
we have the authority to do it or not, but just as sort of a template
which they might be able to use?
Chairman PiCKLE. I think that would be a good idea. I think we,

this committee, and our full committee, should express ourselves

clearly to IRS about how we think some of these things should be
done. In most cases, the Internal Revenue Service just resists

change because the forms are printed in the millions and it is easi-

er not to do it, and it is easier to keep doing business as usual.

There is also a tendency on our part to fuss at IRS because of

all this confusion, instead of giving them clear directions on what
we expect or changing the law. I uiink if we could set a sort of a
pattern or make some recommendations specifically from the Con-
gress, that would help clear up some of the things.

I think Congress is sitting up watching it and making an obser-

vation and then we review this every 2 years and we do not follow

through to get something done. I think probably we ought to ex-

press ourselves more clearly and give more direction and, in turn,

expect some action down the street in a much faster way.
I believe it is a good idea, and that we have a responsibility in

that field.

Are you finished?
Mr. Houghton. Yes, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Pickle. I want to run through some things here be-

cause I want to put on the record here what is actually nappening,
and maybe some other people—oh, Mr. Brewster. I recognize

Mr. Houghton. The birthday boy.

Chairman Fickle. The birthday boy. I didn't recognize you had
come in, Mr. Brewster. Mr. Brewster, I would be glad to recognize

you for questions.
Mr. Brewster. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The birthday was yes-

terday.
First off, thanks for an excellent report. I think it is very in-

depth. I think there is a lot we can learn from it.

A couple of questions I would like to ask. It bothers me that the

staffing across the country in the different regions affects whether
a person gets tracked down to pay their legally owed taxes. Is IRS
moving to correct the disparities in staffing in different areas?

Ms. Stathis. They have placed a freeze on hiring any more reve-

nue officers. Other than that, I am not aware of anything specifi-

cally that they are doing.

Mr. Brewster. So they are not trying to shift people from one
region to another if that region, as you said, in, say, Wyoming,
maybe every person gets contacted who owes and maybe some



24

urban areas no one does. There is no attempt to balance that staff

across the Nation?
Ms. Stathis. Traditionally, IRS has not moved collection staff

among district offices and they do not believe they should do that
now.
Mr. Brewster. Would that not then say that a person in one

area is much less likely to have to pay his taxes than a person in

another?
Ms. Stathis. It certainly is the case that when the tax debt gets

to the revenue officer in the District that that disparity exists.

Mr. Brewster. So persons in some parts of this country, then,
can evade taxes and be less likely to be apprehended than in other
parts of the country?
Ms. Stathis. Understand that they have gone through these first

two steps, they have sent the notices and made phone calls.

Mr. Brewster. I understand.
Ms. Stathis. But at the point where they send somebody to

knock on doors, there are districts in the country where there are
large numbers of cases not being worked.
Mr. Brewster. The American public is pretty smart, and fear of

being apprehended is one of the major reasons that we do a lot of
things. The reason we do not drive too fast on the highway is we
are fearful of the highway patrolmen. So the IRS presence needs
to be, in my opinion at least, level across the country.
Another thing disturbing to me
Chairman PiCKLE. Mr. Brewster, would you yield on that point?
Mr. Brewster. Yes, sir.

Chairman PiCKLE. First, when you made this review on these
field allocation officers, did you make a specific recommendation to

IRS that they change that procedure and reallocate their personnel
in the collection field?

Ms. Stathis. We told them that we thought they needed to de-
velop a plan to try to figure out where they need staff and how
many they need in which place, given not only today's workload.
Chairman Pickle. What did they say?
Ms. Stathis. They agreed that that is a good suggestion. Now,

I don't believe they have actually developed such a plan.

Chairman Pickle. When did you make that recommendation to

them?
Ms. Stathis. That would be in the spring—I think that was the

May 1993 report. But we, of course, have been discussing it with
them many months before that.

Chairman PiCKLE. 1992 or 1993?
Ms. Stathis. No, this year. This May 1993.
Chairman PiCKLE. Well, as I understand it, they did not agree

with you, did not disagree, they just said they would take it under
consideration?
Ms. Stathis. They agreed, I think in concept, is the way I would

describe that. They did not agree that they should move staff

among offices. Of course, we said that they should only consider
that as a last resort, but they did not think that moving staff was
a good alternative.

Chairman PiCKLE. Well, I am going to be asking some more
questions. It seems to me when they say we will take it under con-
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sideration on some of these recommendations, that means we will

see you later, and I don't know that that is going to be done. That
is usually what happens until we have another hearing 2 years
later and we go through the same plowing.
Thank you, Mr. Brewster.
Mr. Brewster. Yes, sir.

Ms. Stathis. Let me add on top of that, of course, in the subse-

quent report we did on alternative strategies, we are saying that
maybe they have too many people allocated there to begin with.

When you have two-thirds of all your collection staff doing that
particular function, that they need to move more of them up earlier

in the process anyway.
Mr. Brewster. Yes, I noticed that in the numbers there, and it

would certainly make you think that if there are more staff in-

volved earlier in the process, making contacts more quickly, then
maybe you would not need so many at the end of the process.

Ms. Stathis. That is right.

Mr. Brewster. And that makes sense.

Ms. Stathis. That is right. And you can make telephone calls

from anywhere in the country. It is not as important then where
those people are physically located.

Mr. Brewster. They are welcome to locate a large center in my
district. But at any rate, certainly I agree with you, if you move
more up in the process, maybe you would have earlier detection

and collection. Because the longer a person goes in the process, the

more difficult it will be to collect from them. Whoever we are, if we
put things off for a period of time, it gets more difficult to ever get

right with the world then.

But it bothers me to see that there was a 100 percent increase

in fraudulent electronic filing claims. As you mentioned in your re-

port, you do not know if that is better detection or if it has really

increased to that extent, because electronic filing only increased 14
percent. In your personal opinion, is there more fraud or is it better

detection efforts?

Ms. Stathis. We really do not have any way of knowing that. We
do know that paper returns also showed more fraud. IRS, I think,

identified about four times the amount of fraud in paper returns.

So that gives some suggestion that maybe the detection is better

as much as anything else.

Mr. Brewster. Or maybe the people are trying harder to deceive

IRS?
Ms. Stathis. Could be.

Mr. Brewster. If there is a continuing pattern there, you would
have to think that.

Ms. Stathis. With paper returns, IRS is more easily able to stop

the refund going out.

Mr. Brewster. Mr. Chairman, I, for one, have no quarrel with
performance review as a criteria. Anyone who does not have their

performance reviewed is less likely to be real serious about doing
their job. And I, for one, would support some changes on perform-
ance review. To me, the quota should be no less than 100 percent
of what is owed.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman PiCKLE. Thank you. Now, Ms. Stathis, I want tx) go
through some of these recommendations and see what response
there was. To start off with, in the overall picture you made sug-
gestions for 54 changes that could be made to improve the under-
standability and use of these 17 selected forms. And the IRS re-

sponded that they could make 44 of the changes and 10 were under
consideration. Now, that is not bad.
Ms. Stathis. That is pretty good.
Chairman PiCKLE. They are listening and/or willing. In some

cases they just bury their heads in the sand, but overall, regarding
forms, that is not a bad response.
Now, I am going to jump-start here a little bit. Back to the tele-

phones. We know that it is getting worse. In 1992, 1 out of 3, and
now 1 out of 4 is answered. I have had people finally call my office

and say we cannot get into the IRS. And I say, oh, you can, I am
sure, and I will try. And I have tried it for them, not the number
we call when we have to get somebody, and I get the same re-

sponse over and over again. So you understand, good citizens fi-

nally will say the hell with it and then they just dig in their heels,

too.

Ms. Stathis. I heard a story of someone who called 38 times and
never got through.
Chairman PiCKLE. Well, that is terrible. Now, we have the

money within the budget to do these types of things, but IRS sim-
ply will not hire all the people they need. It has gotten so bad now.
What do you think about hiring some of our retired personnel on

a minimum wage basis, we will say, and let them go to work an-
swering the phones? Would that be workable?
Ms. Stathis. In some of the districts where I have observed the

telephone operations, they, in fact, have hired retired folks to do
that. And they said those were some of their better employees be-
cause they have a lifetime of experience. So when a question is

asked about a business or something, they have a far better chance
of understanding what the question is oftentimes than the very
young.
Chairman PiCKLE. Well, I was talking to the chairman of our So-

cial Security Subcommittee today, and he said earlier that that is

a possibility; it had been suggested to him and it is being suggested
to several of us that maybe that is a source of good personnel. At
least to get the phones answered. It is either that or hire more per-

sons themselves just on the staff.

Now, do you think we will get opposition in the unions if that
were to happen? Don't know?
Ms. Stathis. I don't really know. I am not sure that there would

be, since IRS had already hired some of those folks.

Chairman Pickle. Well, anyway, that is something that we are
going to have to look at because we have to get these phones an-
swered or else you can expect a breakdown on collections. It is

going to get worse and worse so we have to do something about it.

Ms. Stathis. This is, of course, the main way that most Ameri-
cans deal with their government; that is, through dealing with the
IRS and often through the phone contacts that they have. So if IRS
does not do this Job superbly well, it helps form the opinion that
taxpayers have of'^all of the government.
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Chairman Pickle. I noticed in your testimony that you had sug-

gested to IRS, I don't know what the particular aspects or sections

of that Tax Administration's reports was, that Internal Revenue
ought to use the telephone more. They had three steps, one, two,

three, and at the end of 6 months, they are really not any further

along than when they started because they have been sending out
forms, no answer, sending out forms, so forth.

Now, was it your suggestion that they get on the telephone ear-

lier at least?

Ms. Stathis. Yes.

Chairman Pickle. What did IRS say to you?
Ms. Stathis. As I understand it, they are going to try that in

1994, on a prototype basis. After the second notice, they are going
to call people, a sample of people, before, or instead of sending out

the third notice. So I think that is a good development and I hope
they carry through with that particular project.

Of course, down the road, when we get a better computer system,

we would hope that the calls would be made even sooner than that,

but that is a good first step.

Chairman PiCKLE. Well, I think it is, too. There is always a ques-

tion that you have no record when you make a phone call to some-
body, because the individual will say nobody talked to me, but I

don't know why you cannot make a phone call and then make an
entry in the report about what they have done and about the con-

versation they had and I don't know why that could not work. I

would think that they should do it.

Now, has IRS said they will do it or have they just said we will

try it? Other than you said in some cases they are going to try it

in 1994 or 1995?
Ms. Stathis. This year, as I understand it, there will be a proto-

type where they will call a sample of taxpayers after the second no-

tice.

Chairman Pickle. All right. Now, on the GAO recommendation
that you suggested the developments of detailed information on de-

linquent taxpayers and use it to customize collection procedure, the

Internal Revenue Service said they agreed to consider how infor-

mation on taxpayers' characteristics could be used to customize col-

lection procedures. So I assume they are in the process of making
that, adopting that recommendation; is that correct, Mr. Daniel?

Mr. Daniel. Mr. Chairman, the Internal Revenue Service does

have plans to develop some databases to better use characteristics

of taxpayers to increase their collections. This is still something
that they are just beginning to work on, so I don't expect that they
will be able to ftilly use this information any time soon.

Chairman PiCKLE. Well, I understand that the IRS has agreed

to consider how this information can be passed on. Now, that is a
response I have all through this report. They agreed to consider.

And if they do not want to do it, don't think they should, I think

we will have a specific response for them. But all you have done
is make a recommendation and they have said they will consider

it and there rests the case, does it not? In this case and in many
other instances. So I think we have to—yes, Ms. Stathis.
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Ms. Stathis. I was just going to say that IRS, after our reports
are issued, is required to make a formal written report on what it

is going to do about recommendations. We do have that in a couple
of these cases. That is more recent information than what is in our
reports and we will provide those to you.

[The information lollows:]
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
INTERNAL R E V E N U E SE R V I CE

WASHINGTON, DC. 20224
SsDCatnber 27, 1993

The Honorable John Conyers, Jr.
Chairman, Committee on Government Operations
House of Representatives
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In accordance with 31 U.S.C. 720, I am writing you
concerning actions taken by the Internal Revenue Service in
response to recommendations contained in a report by the General
Accounting Office entitled "Tax Administration: New Delinquent
Tax Collection Methods for IRS" (GGD-93-67, May 1993).

The report contains several recommendations to improve the
collection process. We agree with the thrust of a number of the
recommendations and are currently moving ahead to test or to
implement initiatives designed to achieve improvements. However,
as noted in the report, IRS does not agree with the
recommendation to change the law to permit rewarding collection
staff based on dollars collected. Also, agreement with other
recommendations is contingent upon the results of tests that are
currently pending or underway.

In addition, as the state of the art collection technology
improves, we are continuing to improve our technological
capabilities. For example, we are testing enhancements to the
Automated Collection System that include automated telephone
dialing equipment and a voice response unit which allows certain
taxpayers to establish an installment agreement through use of a

touch-tone telephone. Such initiatives, as well as other
improvements to our collection process, are also detailed in the
enclosed comments.

We have enclosed our responses to the report's specific
recommendations. We believe these responses accurately indicate
the significant steps we have taken, to date, and our intent to
pursue all appropriate avenues to improve the collection process.

We hope you find these comments useful.

Sincerely,

f.i^l.
largaret Milner Richardson

71

'

Enclosure

79-610 0-94-3
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

WASHINGTON. D C. 20224
Seotember Z~ , 1993

The Honorable John Glenn
Chairman, Committee on Governmental Affairs
United States Senate
Washington, DC 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In accordance with 31 U.S.C. 720, I am writing you
concerning actions taken by the Internal Revenue Service in
response to recommendations contained in a report by the General
Accounting Office entitled "Tax Administration: New Delinquent
Tax Collection Methods for IRS" (GGD-93-67, May 1993).

The report contains several recommendations to improve the
collection process. We agree with the thrust of a number of the
recommendations and are currently moving ahead to test or to
implement initiatives designed to achieve improvements. However,
as noted in the report, IRS does not agree with the
recommendation to change the law to permit rewarding collection
staff based on dollars collected. Also, agreement with other
recommendations is contingent upon the results of tests that are
currently pending or underway.

In addition, as the state of the art collection technology
improves, we are continuing to improve our technological
capabilities. For example, we are testing enhancements to the
Automated Collection System that include automated telephone
dialing equipment and a voice response unit which allows certain
taxpayers to establish an installment agreement through use of a
touch-tone telephone. Such initiatives, as well as other
improvements to our collection process, are also detailed in the
enclosed comments.

We have enclosed our responses to the report's specific
recommendations. We believe these responses accurately indicate
the significant steps we have taken, to date, and our intent to
pursue all appropriate avenues to improve the collection process.

We hope you find these comments useful.

Enclosure
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IRS COMMENTS ON GAO REPORT ENTITLED
"TAX ADMINISTRATION: NEW DELINQUENT TAX

COLLECTION METHODS FOR IRS"

Recommendation : Restructure IRS' collection organization to
support earlier telephone contact with delinquent taxpayers
and determine how to use current collection staff in
earlier, more productive phases of the collection cycle.

Response :

A long-term redesign of collection work, processes is being
developed through a Core Business Systems approach. As a result,
in the past 18 months, the IRS Collection organization has
greatly changed the way we do business, with particular emphasis
on accelerating the collection process. Specifically:

1. Early Inter/ention Contact Project — The Ser-/ice will
conduct a major test, the Early Intervention Contact Project, to
demonstrate the effectiveness of earlier telephone contact.
Telephone calls will be made to taxpayers in place of the third
notice on a sample of balance due and return delinquency cases.
We will also test the effectiveness of improved language in the
notices sent to taxpayers.

Critical measurements of the test will be tracked, then
compared with those of the current operations. These will enable
us to evaluate the concepts, and consider improvements. If
successful, these methods will result in earlier resolution of
taxpayer cases before the liabilities become excessive through
mounting penalties and interest, a greater likelihood of the
taxpayer's being able to pay, and the potential to increase
compliance levels. The test is planned to begin in October 1993
and continue through fiscal year 1994.

2. Streamlined Installment Agreement Procedures — We have
streamlined installment agreement procedures and expanded the
authority of our employees to grant approval of installment
agreements up to specified dollar amounts. This authority has
been expanded cross-functionally, which has increased our ability
to provide "one stop service." In addition, revenue agents and
tax auditors now have the authority to offer installment
agreements at the conclusion of an audit.

3. Form 9465, Installment Agreement Request — We
developed this form to accelerate the processing of
pre-assessment installment agreements. This form can be attached
by taxpayers when they file balance due returns. The form is

also used as a stuffer in notices to taxpayers whose cases are
awaiting field attention or are classified as currently not
collectible. We are exploring the use of Form 9465 as a stuffer
for underreporter cases, correspondence examinations, and returns
prepared by IRS where taxpayers fail to file. Also, we
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are testing the Voice Response Unit in the Laguna Automated
Collection System (ACS) Call Site. This technology allows the
taxpayer, using a touch tone telephone, to establish an
installment agreement providing certain criteria are met. These
criteria include limits on the amount owed and the time required
to fully pay the account.

4. Automated Collection System (ACS) Planning for Quality
Prototype in Newark -- Telephone calls are being made on all new
individual tax delinquent accounts received in ACS, prior to levy
action. Plans to have new automated telephone dialing equipment
installed in Newark are under way. This equipment automatically
dials the telephone numbers of taxpayers at times when they are
likely to be available and, on getting an answer, switches the
call to an available ACS employee. We expect this equipment will
significantly increase the productivity of our ACS staff who will
no longer waste time on calls which go unanswered.

5. Moving Calls or Cases to Locations Where Staffing is
Available -- Baltimore and Philadelphia ACS staff currently share
a service center data base, allowing them to work inventory from
either district. In the near future, the Chicago and St. Louis
sites will have the same capability. Ultimately, we plan to
provide for the movement of work across service center lines.

6. Service Center Organizational Study (SCOS) and Customer
Service Initiatives — Efforts are underway that will
significantly change the way we do business. As we implement new
technology and new organizational designs, our emphasis will be
on contacting taxpayers by telephone early on and resolving
accounts much sooner than our current methods allow.

Recommendation : Develop detailed information on delinquent
taxpayers and use it to customize collection procedures.

Response :

We are developing a major compliance system called
Compliance Research Information Systems (CRIS) . This system will
profile taxpayers and allow us to understand the patterns of
noncompliance

.

Currently, a limited degree of customizing does exist in the
collection process. The approach for each taxpayer varies
depending on the type of delinquency, taxpayer history, and
expected yield. In general, the collection effort begins with
written notices from the service center, then proceeds to
telephone contact from ACS and/or personal contact from the
Collection Field function (CFf) if the delinquency is not
resolved. Both ACS and CFf inventories are prioritized by
expected yield, by priority code in ACS, and by the Resources and
Workload Management System (RWMS) score in CFf.
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Our workload management system uses taxpayer characteristics
in prioritizing workload. Entity age, total positive income, and
the number of other delinquent modules in the account are just a
few of the taxpayer characteristics used in the prioritization
process. In addition, the Research Division is considering
securing additional taxpayer information called intelliscores
from TRW, a private vendor. The intelliscores are real-time
scores that use credit history to predict a taxpayer's ability to
pay. The intelliscores could be used with other taxpayer
characteristics in our continuing revision of workload
measurement resource equations.

The Cincinnati Ser'yice Center is conducting three separate,
concurrent Accelerated Notice Tests to study the effects on
collectibility by eliminating one or more of the written notices
(i.e., CP 501, 502, and 503) to the taxpayer, thus shortening the
period a delinquent account spends in notice status, and
promoting earlier use of other collection methods. The final
report on this study will be available in the Fall of 1993.

We are conducting a study to identify the characteristics of
cases most likely to be closed by either notice, ACS, or field
processing. We anticipate that this information can be used to
make better decisions on where cases should be assigned for work
to better tailor the collection process to individual types of
cases. The final report on this study will be available in 1994.

We are also working on an Accounts Receivable Analytical
Model that will give us more information on receivables. This
model will help us anticipate accounts receivable problems, help
us evaluate collection performance, and give us insight into how
best to custom tailor the collection processes for different
delinquent taxpayer profiles.

Recommendation : IRS should identify and implement ways to
increase cooperation with state governments in collecting
delinquent taxes.

Response :

Since 1991, we have increased initiatives with state tax
departments in the collection of delinquent taxes, some of which
are mentioned in the GAO report. At the district level, FedState
efforts include tape-to-tape matches of nonfilers, outreach
prograuns for nonfilers, focusing on compliance of certain state
licensed professional groups, securing the results of state audit
examinations (Employment Tax Adjustment Program) , use of state
sales tax information to identify delinquent business master file



• 34

taxpayers, exchange of delinquent returns secured by one taxing
agency with another, and setting up installment agreements by one
taxing agency on behalf of the other with the cooperation of the
taxpayer. Other projects include sharing training materials and
procedures with interested states. Several states have already
adopted IRS' procedures for offers in compromise.

Many of our district collection officials are currently
meeting with their counterparts in the states to determine how
they can pool their resources to be more effective collectors.
Two districts have made joint installment agreement privileges
available to taxpayers who owe both agencies. Other districts
are considering doing the same. Many districts are looking at
how they can cooperate in such areas as bankruptcy and resolution
of tax lien issues. We are in the process of measuring the
impact of setting up cooperative agreements in these areas. We
are hopeful that these programs can be effective, reduce
duplicate compliance efforts, and be cost effective.

We would like to highlight and expand on several issues that
are mentioned in the GAO report section on "Increase Cooperation
with State Governments to Collect Delinquent Taxes" (page 12-13):

The FedState committee is working on agreements with state
tax agencies to deny issuance of professional licenses if all tax
obligations (Federal and state) are not current (South Carolina
has recently enacted such a law, and Hawaii is considering
expanding its existing law)

.

Cooperative agreements now in place in 27 states provide a

streamlined procedure for the Service to levy against state
income tax refunds to collect delinquent Federal taxes. However,
current law does not permit Federal income tax refunds to be
offset for state liabilities. The states have requested this
reciprocity for some time.

As cited on page 12 of the report, legislative approval to
enter into cooperative agreements with the states was passed in
1992 (H.R. 11) , but was vetoed by the President for other
reasons. The same language is contained in H.R. 13 currently
under consideration by this Congress. This provision would
enable greater Fed-State cooperation in a number of areas.

Finally, the GAO report notes that only about 10 percent of
the cooperative agreements between state agencies and the Service
are directly related to tax collection. This is rapidly
changing. The FedState Relations Division has received a current
report from the field that presents 79 new joint efforts with the
states. Of those 79, 18 (23%) are directly related to collection
activities. Many other efforts will indirectly impact on
collection.
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Recommendation : That the Commissioner test the use of
private collection companies to support IRS' collection
efforts as permitted by current law.

Response :

We are considering a proposal to test the feasibility of
using private sector companies to assist in locating and
contacting taxpayers on cases that otherwise could not be
actively worked by IRS. Funding of $12.6 million for a one-year
test was included as a compliance initiative in the President's
1994 budget request. However, our FY 1994 budget includes no
money for a general pay raise or the first phase of locality
adjustments to be implemented on January 1, 1994. Early
estimates indicate that these will cost IRS approximately $150
million in FY 1994. In the event that additional funding is not
forthcoming, we would plan to cover these costs prior to
implementing any new compliance initiatives. We will consider
testing • this concept in future years if funding levels permit.

Matter for ConQressional Consideration : Congress should
consider revising current tax law to allow the Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) to use collection performance in
determining compensation and rewards for its collection
staff.

Response :

The Service does not support a change in the law which would
reward Collection employees with incentives based on individual
collection performance. We held this position long before the
Omnibus Taxpayer Bill of Rights of 1988 codified into law
existing IRS policy.

To support our position, we would like to provide the
following background on this issue.

The report recognizes that current tax law prohibits IRS
from using performance statistics to evaluate, compensate, or
reward performance. However, as noted in the reporl:, this is a

recommendation that the GAO has offered on at least two other
occasions. [See report footnote on pages 7 and 9.] The first
was in 1987, "U.S. General Accounting Office Views and
Observations on Various Taxpayer Bill of Rights Issues (B-229147,
October 8, 1987). Despite this recommendation, Congress included
the current restrictions on the use of enforcement statistics in
the 1988 tax law. GAO repeated its recommendation in 1991, "Tax
Administration: IRS' Implementation of the 1988 Taxpayer Bill of
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Rights" (GGD-92-23, December 10, 1991). To date, Congress has
not adopted this recommendation primarily because it has been
concerned that the public may view this approach as establishing
a quota system that would act to induce IRS staff to mistreat
taxpayers.

The Seirvice, with Congressional oversight, has invested a
lot of resources to effect changes in the IRS' ethical climate by
recognizing that taxpayers have legitimate concerns about the way
we conduct business. GAO makes no attempt to address this effort
or the potential impact statistical performance measures may have
on the public's confidence in our ability to fairly administer
tax collection responsibilities.

Consistent with stated Congressional concern. Collection
currently takes great care to guard how we use such measures for
fear of relaying a message that quotas do exist and that they
have to be met regardless of the facts of each case. This care
is clearly evidenced by the publication "Managing Statistics"
which includes eight pages on the appropriate use of Collection
statistics.

GAO ' s major support for its recommendation is a 1987 survey
by the American Collectors Association which found that 80
percent of private collection companies (who responded to the
survey) paid collectors a salary plus incentives. However, GAO
also notes that the basis for incentive and bonus pay included
such variables as number of contacts made, number of promises to
pay obtained and other selected measures. The current elements
and standards for Revenue Officers in fact do address these
measures from a qualitative rather than a quantitative
perspective.

Our experience in implementing our Ethics program indicates
GAO ' s belief that the appearance of quotas could be overcome with
a simple prohibition against it is too simplistic.

In conclusion, while numeric incentives may be an option for
the private sector, we must emphasize that the Service has a

broader obligation to serve the public trust through collection
of the smaller and harder accounts as well. Given that our
mission is to improve both short-term and long-term compliance of
all taxpayers, it is reasonable to conclude that our management
tools may be different from private collection firms. No doubt
it is for the same reason that GAO found only eight out of 50
states that indicated any use of "collection performance results"
in evaluating tax collectors. This reluctance by states to fully
embrace private sector practices may evidence a genuine
difference between private and public sector collection missions.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

WASHINGTON, DC. 20224

October 18, 1993

The Honorable John Conyers, Jr.
Chairman, Committee on Government Operations
House of Representatives
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In accordance with 31 U.S.C. section 720, I am writing you
concerning actions by the Internal Revenue Service in response to
recommendations contained in the report by the General Accounting
Office entitled "Tax Administration: Improved Staffing of IRS'
Collection Function Would Increase Productivity" (GGD-93-97,
May 5, 1993) .

We agree that staffing-to-workload imbalances do exist
within the Collection Field function (CFf) and this issue must be
addressed. Our plan to implement the General Accounting Office
recommendations is enclosed (Enclosure I) . We hold to our belief
that revenue maximization should not be the sole criterion in
resource allocation decisions. Other intangibles, such as a

minimum compliance presence, need to be considered as well.
Pursuing revenue maximization alone may result in disparities in
district Collection Resource and Workload Management System
cutoff scores similar to those GAO believes have been created by
the existing staffing-to-workload allocation. Further analysis
is warranted to ensure an acceptable balance between revenue
collected and services provided.

Collection's Resource Allocation Study Group, which includes
Collection executives, played a key role recently in developing a
blueprint for improving resource allocations. We are in the
process of implementing this strategy and will continue their
counsel and involvement as we move forward on GAO '

s

recommendations

.

Since GAO did not submit a draft report for review, we have
provided comments on the text of the final report in Enclosure
II.

We hope you find these comments useful.

'I(

dargaret Milner Richardson

Enclosures
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

WASHINGTON. D C, 20224

October 18, 1993
ISSIONER

The Honorable John Glenn
Chairman, Committee on Governmental Affairs
United States Senate
Washington, DC 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In accordance with 31 U.S.C. section 720, I am writing you
concerning actions by the Internal Revenue Service in response to
recommendations contained in the report by the General Accounting
Office entitled "Tax Administration: Improved Staffing of IRS'
Collection Function Would Increase Productivity" (GGD-93-97,
May 5, 1993) .

We agree that staffing-to-workload imbalances do exist
within the Collection Field function (CFf) and this issue must be
addressed. Our plan to implement the General Accounting Office
recommendations is enclosed (Enclosure I). We hold to our belief
that revenue maximization should not be the sole criterion in
resource allocation decisions. Other intangibles, such as a

minimum compliance presence, need to be considered as well.
Pursuing revenue maximization alone may result in disparities in
district Collection Resource and Workload Management System
cutoff scores similar to those GAO believes have been created by
the existing staffing-to-workload allocation. Further analysis
is warranted to ensure an acceptable balance between revenue
collected and services provided.

Collection's Resource Allocation Study Group, which includes
Collection executives, played a key role recently in developing a

blueprint for improving resource allocations. We are in the
process of implementing this strategy and will continue their
counsel and involvement as we move forward on GAO '

s

recommendations

.

Since GAO did not submit a draft report for review, we have
provided comments on the text of the final report in Enclosure
II.

We hope you find these comments useful.

Sincerely,

largaret Milner Richardson

Enclosures
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Enclosure I

IRS COMMENTS ON GAG REPORT ENTITLED
"TAX ADMINISTRATION: IMPROVED STAFFING OF IRS' COLLECTION

FUNCTION WOULD INCREASE PRODUCTIVITY"

Recommendation

The Commissioner [should] direct the Assistant Commissioner
(Collection) to develop a plan for ensuring that the
Collection staff in field offices is balanced to maximize
the assessment and collection of delinquent taxes.

COMMENT :

Collection has already begun to utilize staffing strategies
that will accelerate the matching of staffing to workload needs
in all functions, including the Collection Field function (CFf )

.

These reallocations are based on the methodologies recommended by
Collection's Resource Allocation Study Group. Recommendations of
the group include:

Identifying a "minimum presence" required in a
district.

Allocating staff with the objective of using a
consistent Resource and Workload Management System
(RWMS) cut-off score nationwide.

Labeling districts that have relatively higher staffing
to workload levels as "No Growth Areas" (NGA)

.

Freezing revenue officer hiring in all "No Growth
Areas" for the foreseeable future; tracking staffing
patterns to verify that staff years freed up through
attrition are transferred to districts which are
relatively understaffed.

Working more cases earlier in the collection process
(specifically in the Automated Collection System (ACS)

)

and thereby reducing the volume of casework flowing
through to the Collection Field function. This will be
accomplished by handling telephone work from where it
can best be worked based on relative productivity and
not geographic boundaries. Existing ACS technology
simplifies migrating work to staff rather than vice
versa.

Exploring other possibilities for redirecting work to
free up more of the existing staff in relatively
understaffed districts to be made available to pursue
delinquent accounts. For example, potential
opportunities exist to consolidate or centralize work
in the Special Procedures function and Collection
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Support function of designated key districts or in the
Service Center Collection Branch (SCCB) thereby
benefiting understaffed districts.

Recommendation :

The plan should include the use of marginal productivity
indicators and multi-year economic forecasts in the
methodology for determining the number of staff each field
office should have.

COMMENT :

We are working with the Research Division on the best
approach to incorporate econometric data and marginal
productivity indicators in Collection's resource allocation
decisions.

Recommendation :

The plan should provide a means for Collection to assess the
impact of planned future technological, strategic, and
organizational changes on Collection staffing needs and, if
appropriate, to modify its plan on the basis of that
assessment.

COMMENT :

We agree with the recommendation. As the Service implements
the new Business Vision, Collection will work closely with
appropriate functions to ensure that resource allocation
decisions mirror the Service's overall direction. For example.
Collection's plan to allocate ACS resources as a corporate asset
maximizes use of available ACS technology and allows for
distributing resources to sites in favorable labor markets.

Recommendation :

The plan should include strategies for transferring
Collection employees to other functions as a means of
eliminating staffing imbalances.

COMMENT :

This issue was considered early in the Resource Allocation
Study Group's work. Several members of the group represent
regions with districts that are overstaffed compared to staffing
workload ratios in other districts. These executives advised
that some of the other IRS functions in those districts are also
relatively overstaffed. We will, however, revisit this issue as
the Servicewide redeployment provides new opportunities to
creatively resolve any staffing imbalances.
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Enclosure II

IRS COMMENTS ON TEXT . OF GAO REPORT ENTITLED
"TAX ADMINISTRATION: IMPROVED STAFFING OF IRS COLLECTION

FUNCTION WOULD INCREASE PRODUCTIVITY"

Page 2: GAO ' s comment that allocation of staff should
result in equal marginal productivity at each location to
maximize revenue makes sense in theory, but is not an attainable
or desirable goal for several reasons:

Minimum Compliance Presence: A small district, e.g.,
Cheyenne works almost everything while Manhattan has a

RWMS cut-off score of 75,000. Staffing Cheyenne to a

cut-off score of RV?MS 75,000 would mean inadequate
compliance presence (one or two revenue officers for
the whole state of Wyoming) , and even then we might not
have sufficient resources to work everything in
Manhattan. Small districts will always be able to work
lower priority cases than large districts because of
the need to maintain minimum compliance presence and
because their universe of high scored work is smaller.

Caseload profile: Districts have varying percentages
of individual master file and business master file
workload and different distributions of cases by RWMS
priority level. Generally, a high RWMS and a high
percentage of business cases indicate a potential for
collecting more dollars. However, if the cutoff scores
for working cases were consistent, different districts
would have varying results because their workload
profiles differ, i.e., the higher the percentage of
business master file and high RWMS scored work, the
greater potential there is for collection.

Productivity factors: Productivity norms are not
simply a factor of good management practices and
devoted employees. The amount of travel between field
calls, complexity of work, and grade level/experience
of employees all impact on the norm and, hence,
revenue. For example, collections per staff year in

Cheyenne may never equal those in Manhattan because a

revenue officer in Cheyenne may have to travel
substantial distances between stops, while in Manhattan
a revenue officer's entire inventory may be located
within a few city blocks.

The above notwithstanding, we acknowledge that the gap between
the highest and lowest yielding districts is too wide and must be
narrowed, but marginal productivity cannot be equalized entirely.
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Page 7: The use of "taxpayers subject to collection action"
per staff year is not a good measurement because it doesn't
account for differences in workload productivity and RWMS
profiles between districts. We believe that staffing all but the
smallest districts to work to a theoretical (but equal) RWMS
cut-off score is more appropriate since it will lead to increased
equity in the program.

For example, Albany needs 61.9 staff years to work to a
cutoff of RWMS 10,000 while Atlanta needs 385.8 staff years to do
the same. Taxpayers with equal collectible liabilities would
stand the same chance of being pursued (or not pursued) in both
districts. Using GAO ' s measure of taxpayers subject to
collection action per staff year, Albany would be at 295.8
compared with Atlanta's 175.2. This is because 40% of Atlanta's
work is RWMS 10,000 or above compared with 23% for Albany.

Page 9 : GAO cites statistics that two-thirds of taxpayers
in the Collection inventory are in the queue and now represent
12% of that inventory's dollar value. This shows that we are
correctly prioritizing and working the highest potential yield
cases.

Page 12: GAO ' s statement that the Collection Resource
Database Information Tracking System (CREDITS) can do only single
year allocations is technically correct. Yet, by using its
multi-year forecasting utility, CREDITS can project subsequent
year impact of individual initiatives. We used the multi-year
utility to allocate our draft distribution of the proposed FY 94
initiative submission.
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Chairman Pickle. Well, I am going through this because this is

a listing of your recommendations and the IRS' response and that
is why I want to be sure we all kind of understand where we are.

You have recommended that the IRS identify and implement
ways to increase cooperation with State government in the collec-

tion of delinquent taxes. And the IRS' response was they support
exploring opportunity and increased cooperation. What does that
mean?
Mr. Daniel. Well, Mr. Chairman, since that time, the IRS has

tried additional cooperative efforts with States to collect taxes. In

one of their latest responses, they did mention the number of

projects that are ongoing between IRS and States to collect taxes,

have increased to about 23 projects. So they are moving forward in

trying to do that.

Chairman Pickle. Do you know in what way they are moving
forward?
Mr. Daniel. They are trying to, for example, have joint install-

ment agreement arrangements with some States. They are also

working with some States to increase collections through tax en-

forcement programs involving licenses and permits.
Ms. Stathis. The example we had in our report, Mr. Chairman,

was a project they had with Hawaii, in which the State would
refuse to give the taxpayer a State license if in fact he had not paid
his Federal tax debt as well as his State tax.

Mr. Daniel. IRS is trying to expand that type of cooperative

agreement.
Chairman Pickle. Is that being adopted generally by other

States? You do not know?
Ms. Stathis. We just know of it in one case.

Chairman Pickle. Well, we will ask about that.

Mr. Daniel. It has to be done on a State-by-State basis.

Chairman Pickle. I understand that, but I think it would be
well to look into that.

Now, the GAO recommended that the IRS test the use of private

collection agencies to support IRS collection efforts permitted by
law. And the IRS, I understand, did not respond at all. Did they
say anything to you or did they give any response about using pri-

vate agencies?
Mr. Daniel. The IRS agreed to do that, but they are now claim-

ing that because of budget constraints, that they had to use money
for other purposes. So I think at this point they have temporarily

suspended that particular project.

Chairman PiCKLE. You are saying, then, that rather than saying

that is a good idea, we can use it, they just said we do not have
the money and so they wrote it off. They didn't give a response be-

cause they don't have budgeted money.
Mr. Daniel. That is their current response.

Chairman Pickle. Well. Now, on this item of "currently not col-

lectible," that is getting to be a bigger problem all the time. The
committee really believes the Internal Revenue can do more to col-

lect taxes that are labeled "currently not collectible," because that

is so easy to find and to make an effort, and if you don't get any
response it is easy for that worker to say "currently not collectible
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[CNC]," and set it aside. And that list gets bigger and bigger and
bigger.

Now, there are reasons a lot of times you have to kind of classify

them that way, I suppose, but it is an easy haven to drop into and
then prettv soon that amount gets bigger and bigger and bigger.

So you had recommended that the IRS eliminate the automatic
65-week reactivation hold period on CNC cases and allow employ-
ees to determine when each CNC case should be reactivated. What
did IRS say to that?
Mr. Venezia. IRS disagreed with eliminating the 65-week hold.

Chairman Pickle. Why?
Mr. Venezia. They felt if they would revise their procedures for

classifying accounts as currently not collectible, they would not
have that problem.
Chairman PiCKLE. So they just said

Mr. Venezia. They disagreed. They said they needed it. What
they are saying is they need the 65-week hold to avoid the reactiva-
tion of accounts where they have already considered the income at
the time they made the investigation. So if the hold were elimi-

nated, some accounts would be reactivated too soon.

However, we believe that this also precludes the timely reactiva-

tion of accounts that should be reactivated. These accounts then
could sit in CNC for almost 2 years without being reactivated while
they have income that could pay the taxes.

What we were suggesting is that during the investigation—des-
ignate the period of time that the hold should exist for and not
have the arbitrary 65-week hold.

Chairman Pickle. I understand your response on that.

Now, another recommendation. You suggested the IRS track both
taxpayers and spouses with delinquencies to ensure that both tax-

payers' ability to pay is considered, and the IRS responded; they
agreed in principle, but said that the current system does not have
the ability to track both taxpayers. This improvement will be pur-
sued as an element of the tax system modernization.
Do you agree with that?
Mr. Venezia. IRS is saying that they need to incorporate this

under t£tx system modernization because the current systems can-

not be altered at this time to allow for the tracking of two tax-

payers. We do not know specifically whether it could be done now
or needs to be done under TSM.
Chairman Pickle. If you have only one address and they have

separated, one has money and one has not, might be the man or

the female, but if they have only one address and they write and
don't get a response, they just write it up as "currently not collect-

ible." Now, they could go to a lot of places, for instance at the

banks alone, couldn't they, and get addresses?
Mr. Venezia. There are a lot of different sources they could go

to to get the address on the taxpayers. They have the addresses
themselves, if the taxpayers separated, under the spouse's Social

Security number.
Chairman Pickle. I wonder, though, do they make any effort? If

they have two people they are trying to get money from, they have
lost their addresses and they are not current—and that is the case
a lot of time when people have separated. But there are sources to
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go to to get addresses. Do they look for those sources? I am just
saying there is a bank,
Mr. Venezia. During the investigation of the account initially,

before it is CNC'd, they will pursue both spouses and they will go
to other sources, such as banks and post offices, to look for current
addresses.
Chairman PiCKLE. We have a vote coming up. We will have to

come back, but let me ask Mr. Houghton before we go.

Mr. Houghton. I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Pickle. Then we will proceed then for a little further

and then we will have to come back because we have a vote.
Now, you suggested the benefit of using other information, such

as interest and dividend income as reactivation criteria. You also
suggested that the IRS speed up the reactivation process by reduc-
ing the number of notices and making prior case files available to

employees working these cases.

I don't know that I understand that, when you talk in terms of
reactivating cases and speeding that up. Who handled that part
and can respond to that?
Mr. Venezia. I was, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman PiCKLE. All right, Mr. Venezia.
Mr. Venezia. When IRS classifies an account "currently not col-

lectible for hardship," they set an income level which they believe
at that time the taxpayer can make some payments toward the de-
linquency. When the taxpayer files a return at that income level,

or higher, the account will be reactivated, placed back into active
inventory.
At that point in time, the account goes through the same process

as a brandnew delinquency, where the taxpayer is sent notices over
a 6-month period, then goes to the second stage where they receive
telephone calls. So we are suggesting that because IRS has evi-

dence that the taxpayer can pay, that this account should be accel-

erated and it should not go through the same normal process.
Chairman Pickle. All right. Now, I will suggest that we take

about a 10-minute recess here, because this will be a routine vote
and we can come on back. Is that agreeable to you, Ms. Stathis?
Ms. Stathis. Yes, sir.

[Brief Recess.]
Chairman PiCKLE. The subcommittee will resume.
With regard to these delinquent taxes and the ability to collect,

you gave me three examples of people who are making $60,000 to

$70,000, $80,000, individual or couples, and they have a lot of pay-
ments, mortgages, insurance, living expenses, and the IRS said,

well, you really are not making enough to make a payment to us,

so we won't pursue it.

What should our policy be? You said in response to questions I

asked you, specifically in some six instances, the Internal Revenue
Service did not get any of that money and yet they were making
anywhere from $60,000, $70,000, $80,000 or more a year. What
should be done about that?
Ms. Stathis. We suggested in our report that people earning

above some amount of money—at some set amount—should be ex-

pected to pay at least something toward their delinquent tax debts.

Chairman Pickle. And IRS is not requiring that at all?
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Ms. Stathis. No.
Chairman PiCKLE. They just make a judgment it is not worth it,

and they are struggling, therefore, you do not have to pay to Inter-

nal Revenue. Everybody else but not IRS.
Ms. Stathis. They are just doing a comparison of income and ex-

penses.
Chairman PiCKLE. Do you have any recommendations to them

about what they should pay? Would it be on a one-on-one basis;

case-by-case?
Ms. Stathis. We thought it would be helpful to the revenue offi-

cers if they had more specific guidance as to what they should do.

Above $50,000 or above some amount of money, they should expect
something or other. We did not leap ahead to say what that level

should be or what the policy should be, but it seemed reasonable
to us that they would have some type of guidance like that.

Chairman Pickle. Should we, the Congress, try to tell IRS what
that percentage should be; what that amount is?

Ms. Stathis. Well, that is, of course, up to the subcommittee and
the Congress to decide.

Chairman Pickle. Well, the public generally might say these
people ought to pay for their homes and their automobiles and
other things and IRS ought to just step aside, and that is what
happens; and yet the government has to run and we have to get
our collections in. So I think we should stand in line appropriately,

and I think we ought to talk to the IRS about how we think it

should be handled, at least to have some kind of agreement, other-
wise, the individual will just make a determination that they are
having a hard time, therefore, we are not going to take their

money. And he should be held to a standard of performance, so I

think we will look into that further.

Ms. Stathis. I will tell you, Mr. Chairman, that we did a similar

study for the Congress a decade or more ago and we also had con-

cerns then about tnis same issue. We view the IRS' response to this

particular report as very encouraging, more encouraging than re-

sponses we received a decade ago. In the response, the Commis-
sioner says that the agency will take this seriously, will move
ahead to try to produce better guidelines.

Chairman Pickle. Well, I am glad they are looking at it more
affirmatively, and I think we, the Congress, should counsel with
the IRS to see what we can set as guidelines, expectations, and
then expect them to do this. So that is encouraging.
That brings up a question. We have asked you to make a survey,

and you conduct these studies about forms, collectibility, and so

forth, which has been going on for years and years. Now, you have
made your study, you made your recommendations to the IRS, and
they made their report to you and to us, a copy, so we can see what
is going on. Now, what happens with that report once it is made?
Ms. Stathis. Well, once we make a recommendation and IRS re-

sponds to it, we put it in our system and we keep following up, and
we will be continuing to follow up on these recommendations. We
are very serious about the issue of the accounts receivable and we
are not going to let up on this.

Chainnan Pickle. I am glad you say that. I am also thinking in

terms of our subcommittee and the committee as a whole. We get
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these reports, and more likely we fuss about it, we make quite a
to-do about it today, and then in the push of things we set it on
the shelf and 2 years later we make another survey, and then 2,

4 years later another survey. That has been going on for years and
years.
Have any of you had this experience with previous surveys and

nothing comes of it much, a lot of times? It just is not done, and
I think we have to, the subcommittee, put a tracking on it; we will

give you so much time to make a response, and if they don't agree
with it, they can say we just don't agree and at least we will know,
but at least it does not get fuzzy and it floats off, and that is what
happens.

I have had two or three members of the committee say, well,

while you make all those recommendations on forms and so on, but
nothing comes of it. So I think together we have to follow through
with a strict accountability measurement.
Ms. Stathis. I think in the case of the forms and publications,

probably as well other types of correspondence, it is the type of
thing where with tax law changes and with other kinds of updates,
it is something over which the agency has to be ever vigilant, be-
cause it will always require an effort to make sure that those are
as good as they can be.

Chairman Pickle. Those are forms, notices and that kind of
thing can be corrected easily. Now, once you get into the problem
resolution stage, where it is a discussion or an argument or dis-

agreement on the amount of money or whether mey should be
taxed, that is another matter. That is a judgment or agreement
they can reach. But in the case of a lot of these forms and a lot

of these letters, a much better job can be done, and I think we
should do it.

I am encouraged in my congressional district. The Internal Reve-
nue had put an emphasis on taxpayer services. I think the attitude
the IRS people have in many respects will help. I think their invi-

tation to people to come in and talk with them; their efforts to ar-

range for a person-to-person meeting would help tremendously, and
a face-to-face hearing, in some cases, and they know they can talk

to the same person twice, that would be just like inventing a new
round wheel, but that is not being done now.

I think every region has to do a better job on the personality as-

pect of it.

Now, let me go back to some of these questions. Here is what
bothers me. After reviewing 1,232 CNC cases, currently not collect-

ible cases, GAO determined that 55 percent of accounts should not
have been approved for CNC status. Now, that is, to me, a shock-
ing figure. Out of that number, 55 percent of them you thought
should not have been approved for CNC status.

Does IRS review the CNC decisions and, if so, why is the quality
control so terrible?

Ms. Stathis. The supervisors are supposed to review the CNC
determinations. In many cases they seem to do that very hurriedly,
and they seem to rely on the judgment of the revenue officer.

Chairman PiCKLE. I can see why there would be a tendency to

do it because that gets rid of the question easily but it does not col-

lect money. Because you say the IRS statistics alone indicated
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$52.4 billion, or 40 percent of accounts receivable, had been classi-

fied as CNC.
Now, that is a kind of an indictment by itself, isn't it? Now, near-

ly a quarter of the accounts receivable inventory has been given up
for lost with almost no quality control or supervision of any kind.

Isn't that troubling to you?
Ms. Stathis. It is very troubling.

Chairman PiCKLE. Do you dispute the figures that I have just
quoted?
Ms. Stathis. No, I don't believe that I do.

Chairman PlCKLE. Well, that seems to me something that we
should look at. Now, once a CNC determination is made, the case
is closed for at least 65 weeks. What is the reason for waiting 65
weeks in all cases before reactivating a case?
Ms. Stathis. That is the case that we were discussing earlier,

where the IRS does not want to prematurely reactivate a case and
only have information that it already had at the time it made the
determination.
So it is a timing issue.

Chairman PiCKLE. But at that point, after a case is reopened, a
new case file is started and the whole collection process starts all

over again, with months of delay while written notices are sent out.

Even worse, new IRS employees then begin to file a whole new
case file, apparently ignoring the previously gathered information.

Does the Internal Revenue Service offer any justification for

treating reactivated CNC cases as brandnew cases?
Mr. Venezia. Not really, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman PiCKLE. They just
Mr. Venezia. They recognize there may be some advantages to

bypassing or reducing the number of notices sent, and they said

they would consider it. That would be something that needs to be
followed up on to see if they really take action.

In regard to the availability of the old accounts, they say that

they are available at the records center and that the new revenue
officer could request it. However,
Chairman PiCKLE. But they don't.

Mr. Venezia. Talking to field people, they say it is nearly impos-
sible to retrieve files from the records center.

Chairman Pickle. Well, is that something that we can change
the law on or is that just better administration?
Mr. Venezia. It is just better administration.

Chairman PiCKLE. And they are not doing it.

Mr. Venezl\. That is correct.

Chairman PiCKLE. I am afraid you are right, the IRS has a long
way to go. They are supposed to be professionals and yet it is some-
body else's worry, and I am afraid they don't tend to it like they
should. But it is kind of an individual—it is an administration

problem; that aspect of it?

Mr. Venezia. Yes.
Chairman PiCKLE. All right.

Now, the IRS interim correspondence sent in response to tax-

payers' inquires are often confusing and inappropriate because
there is no quality review process for letters. They just put out an-
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other letter and that is it and there is really no way for somebody
to set standards on it.

What is the Internal Revenue Service's reasoning for not having
a quality review process for interim letters?

Ms. Stathis. Well, I think that primarily revolved around the
cost of doing that; that they felt that it would add cost, and since
it was in fact just an interim letter, to let the taxpayer know they
are working the case, that they were not quite as important as the
final letter.

Chairman Pickle. Well, doesn't the IRS have a whole depart-
ment down there that is called—what do they call their review

—

Tax Forms Correspondence Administration? Tax Forms and Cor-
respondence. Now, how many people do they have in that depart-
ment down there?
Ms. Stathis. I am not sure, Mr. Chairman, but I think what you

are talking about is the Forms and Publications Unit.
Chairman PiCKLE. Yes, yes, yes.

Ms. Stathis. This is the type of correspondence that goes out
from each service center and it is in that correspondence that these
interim letters occur. So that the people who work on the forms
and publications are not really involved in this.

Chairman Pickle. Well, how do we do a better job on this in-

terim letter? Do we let them just handle their own interim cor-

respondence?
Ms. Stathis. Well, obviously, the best solution would be to get

the final answer out in 30 days in which case you would not need
an interim letter. The only case you do an interim letter is when
you are not going to answer in 30 days, and they are doing that
about 75 percent of the time. So this is the remaining 25 percent.

If in fact IRS is going to continue sending out interim letters,

IRS is either going to have to go to a more generic kind of a gen-
eral notice that would apply to all situations or they could quit
doing interim letters. Of course in both those cases, it would not
always help the taxpayer.
The other suggestion is that they can try to insert some type of

quality review, by reviewing a sample of them.
Chairman PiCKLE. Well, it seems to me, with as large as a staff

down there, whose job it is to have better forms and better under-
standing, that we can do a better job. I think we get rather hard-
ened to the process, and it is easy to say, well, this is uniform, we
understand it and everybody else does.

The first reaction that an individual has when thev get a letter

from the IRS is, one, they wonder what in the world have I done
wrong now and they get scared, and if they don't understand it,

they start getting mad about it. And a lot of that can be changed
just by changing the form to be easily understood, and I think we
can do a lot better job on that. I think it is fair to jump on the IRS
for sending out foolish letters, because you are talking about dol-

lars and cents and a lot of people's lives and future, and it seems
to me we should do a better job of it.

I think what we perhaps ought to do is take your report in coun-
sel with IRS and see which recommendations they have adopted
and which ones they have not, and then put a date on it and follow

this through at another specific time. We will say within 1 year.
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We should call back and say what have you done about this and
what is your answer? Otherwise, it is just swallowed up and forgot-

ten, and I don't think we should allow that.

I think that will be my recommendation to the committee, that
we set up a specific followthrough procedure on all these rec-

ommendations.
Do you have any suggestions over and above what you have

given us today about steps that you would take? You made your
examination of all these different cases and you gave your rec-

ommendations; how do we get a better job on forms and publica-
tions and collectibles?

It is not acceptable to have $131 billion out there noncollectible.

The American public, when they really see that, and then they say,

well, you can collect $30 billion of it.

Ms. STATfflS. Twenty-two billion dollars is IRS' estimate of the
collectible part, the $131 billion.

Chairman PiCKLE. Something is terribly wrong with our account-
ing if we have that much out there and the rest cannot be collected.

What can we do? How can we get these collections in better?

Ms. Stathis. Well, I think the most significant recommendations
we have made regarding collecting taxes are in the report we did
for you on alternative strategies. We believe that it really is going
to require a fundamental change in the way the whole process
works. It needs to be rethought from beginning to end. It just has
to come more into conformance with current standards, world class

standards, if you will, in terms of how debt is collected.

And that is going to be very difficult for the Service to do because
it will be a drastic change in the culture and in the way they have
done this; but it is something that just absolutely has to be done.
Chairman PiCKLE. In your contacts with the Internal Revenue

Service, do you go in and talk to the revenue officer or do you talk

to the average person who is handling cases? Do you have a sort

of town hall meeting with the officers, or do you just go to the indi-

viduals that are involved on a particular case?
Ms. Stathis. Usually we take a sample of cases and look at that,

and then we work backward from that to the person who handled
the case.

Chairman PiCKLE. Do you ever go into an IRS office and say we
would like to have suggestions from the employees and you nave
100 of them in the room? What suggestions do you have? Have you
attempted something like that?
Ms. Stathis. Not recently. No, we have done that
Chairman Pickle. Have any of the officers here, Mr. Attianese?
Mr. Attianese. No, I don't recall doing that.

Chairman Pickle. I think that might be good. I have gone into

district offices, when we visited a district office, and found out, for

instance, a couple of years ago, one of the biggest flaws in elec-

tronic filing is with respect to EITC cases. We had not realized

that. We found out that was a real loophole and we found it out
because the employees volunteered it.

Now, I think in many instances we can go into these IRS offices

and if we can just hold meetings, we can get some good suggestions
of how we can do things better.
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Ms. Stathis. Generally, the way we do our work, we are at the
service center or at the district omce often, and the IRS employees
do usually pass on a lot of good ideas to us as we are doing that

work.
Chairman Pickle. I find a lot of cases where an individual has

a problem with IRS, if they could ever have an individual interview

with somebody, the individual, the taxpayer, finally decides that

they are not ignoring me, and this old adage that the IRS is—what
did the fellow 2 weeks ago say they were? Brutes and overbearing
and vicious and a few other descriptive terms about IRS officers.

And a lot of that stems from poor communication, both in forms
and from individual treatment, and I think we have to do a better

job.

So I think we have to hold IRS accountable to make changes.

Why do they want to wait until 1995 just to change a form? Now,
this was 18 months ago or 8 months ago. Why do they wait? In

some cases, they want to wait 10 vears before they change a form.

Where was the instance they didn t want to change it for 10 years?

Some cases they would not be able to do it because computerization

was going to be changed and we will wait for 10 years. Taxpayers
won't accept that and neither should the Congress.
Now, we will not have the IRS in front of us today because we

wanted to receive your report. We are glad to have it and we are

going to try to match your report with IRS, what has been done,

what is promising to be done or what is disagreed to, and then we
will start a tracking session and have another session on this later

on. So we will be talking to them, as you have, and we have been
talking to them, too, and they are not—they are not playing good
looking, hard to get, they are trying to do better, but I think they
have to pick up their feet. Because for too long they have said,

tough, you get this, you get the money, and everything else. So I

think we have to do better.

I appreciate your review and going into these offices. I don't

think I have any other questions particularly about these forms un-

less some of you have something you want to add or any other sug-

gestions.

Mr. Attianese, you have not said anything this morning.
Mr. Attianese. That is right.

Chairman Pickle. Well, I think we ought to stop at that point.

Well, I thank you very much for your testimony and we will fol-

low through on each of these recommendations. Thank you for your
diligence m pursuing this request that we have made, and it is a

good one, and I think we have made some headway on it, so thank
you very much. The committee is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 11:45 a.m., the hearing was adjourned.]

[The following information was received from the Department of

the Treasury:]
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

WASHINGTON. DC 20224

May 12, 1994

RECEIVED

'/JY 1 h 1994

Ways and Means
Subcommittee on Oversight

The Honorable J. J. Pickle
Chairman, Ways and Means Subcommittee on Oversight
Committee on Ways and Means
U.S. House of Representatives
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In your letter of January 10, 1994, you asked that we
respond to each of the General Accounting Office's (GAO)
recommendations contained in six specific reports.

Our enclosed response discusses the reports in the order in
which they are listed in your letter. We are a] so responding to
the specific questions raised in your letter.

We hope that our response covers the GAO recommendations to
your satisfaction and also fully addresses your specific
questions

.

Sincerely,

^- n^;., fUiaU>x!5;,^/^

Margaret 'Mi Iner Richardson

Enclosure

cc: The Honorable Amo Houghton
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ENCLOSURE

Selected IRS Forms, Publications, and Notices Could Be
Improved - GAO/GGD - 93-72, April 1993.

In this report GAO identified 54 changes that
could be made to improve the understandability and
usefulness of various forms and publications to taxpayers.
Changes were also suggested for 5 of the 21 notices reviewed
by GAO. Generally, the changes suggested by GAO were for
the use of more specific language, consistent terminology,
and inclusion of appropriate references to other forms and
publications.

Except as noted below, all of the suggested changes to
the IRS forms and publications listed in the April 1993 GAO
report "Selected IRS Forms, Publications, and Notices Could
Be Improved" havebeen made. The exceptions are as follows:

Form SS-4, GAO Concern 5 : The phrase "DO NOT apply if you
already have an EIN" is not used in the paragraph "purchased
going business," although this phrase is used in similar
paragraphs in the section.

Response : IRS agreed to add this phrase to this example
during the 1994 revision of Form SS-4.

Status Update : Change will be made to the next revision.

Form 709, GAO Concern 5 : Technical terms are used
frequently with the definitions interspersed throughout the
instructions. We suggested that a detailed glossary would
be helpful.

Response : IRS agreed to include a glossary in the 1993
revision of Form 709 if there is enough space.

Status Update : Due to the lack of space, we were not able
to add a glossary to the 1993 revision. However, we will
continue to look for the opportunity to add the recommended
glossary in future revisions of this form.

Form 709, GAO Concern 11 : In the discussion of "Consent of
Spouse," a reference is made to the availability of Form
709-A. Form 709-A is used by certain married couples to
report nontaxable gifts that they consent to split. Because
no revenue is collected through this form, its usefulness to
IRS is questionable, and the burden imposed by it may be
unnecessary.
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Response ; IRS agreed to study the elimination of this form
in greater detail. However, IRS could not eliminate this
form without legislative approval from Congress.

Status Update : After careful consideration, we have decided
not to adopt_this recommendation. We believe that the IRS
must have a signed agreement in all split gift situations.

When a taxpayer consents to split gifts with his or her
spouse, both spouses become jointly and severally liable for
all gift tax liability for the year (IRC section 2513(d)).
A consenting spouse could even incur gift tax liability
where none appeared to exist, such as when a gift is
undervalued, or if the annual exclusion is incorrectly
claimed because the gift is of a future interest.

For this reason, we feel that any time there is a
consent to split gifts, we need the signature of the
consenting spouse. This applies even when a gift tax
return, on its face, involves no tax liability.

Form 709-A satisfies this signature requirement. If we
were to eliminate Form 709-A taxpayers would be forced to
file the more complicated Form 709. We, therefore, feel
that we should retain Form 709-A.

Form 709, GAP Concern 12 : The filing requirement for donors
making gifts to charitable organizations may not be
necessary because no tax is paid on these gifts. Therefore,
GAO believes the need for reporting these gifts is
questionable.

Response : IRS agreed to study the elimination of this
filing requirement in greater detail. However, IRS could
not eliminate this filing requirement without legislative
approval from Congress.

'"

Status Update : This suggestion was developed as a
legislative proposal and circulated for National Office
review. Based on the comments received from Chief Counsel
and several other functions we have decicled_npt to pursue
the matter. Specifically, it is our opinion that the chance
for abuse in this area would be increased by adopting the
suggestion to eliminate the requirement for filing the Form
709 in the case of charitable gifts in excess of $10,000 and
charitable gifts of a future interest.
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Notices

Recommendation: CP 16 - GAO found the reference to
Individual Retirement Account (IRA) taxes on this notice
confusing.

Response : The Notice Clarity Unit officials agreed, and
suggested revisions to the specific language in this notice.

Status Update : We have revised the language for CP 16. We
prepared the Request for Information Services (RIS) to
secure the necessary programming changes for January 1995.
The revision calls for a page two legend titled, "Where We
Applied Your Overpayment." There is a specific reference to
IRA applications, "We applied $nn, nnn, nnn. nn to the tax on
your Individual Retirement Account (IRA) . Since our records
keep IRA and income tax in different tax accounts, you may
receive a separate notice from us about your IRA taxes."

Recommendation: CP 49 - This notice does not specifically
address the taxpayer's particular situation. GAO suggested
that IRS change the language in this notice to more
specifically address both the taxpayer's account and IRS'
actions

.

Response : IRS' Notice Clarity Unit officials agreed that
clarification is needed.

Status Update : For January 1995, we are revising CP 49 to
more clearly state what is being done when an overpayment is
applied to an outstanding balance. The new language will
read: Our records show that you owe other federal taxes.
Your overpayment was applied as follows. The notice will
then provide specific information under the following
categories: Form(s), Tax Period(s), Amount(s) Applied, and
Balance Remaining.

Recommendation: CP 138 - Conflicting direction on this
notice could confuse taxpayers and possibly hinder the
processing of payments. GAO suggested that IRS either
delete the reference to a forthcoming bill in the notice or
remove the stub which directs the taxpayer to remit payment
with the stub.

Response : IRS' Notice Clarity Unit officials agreed that
these instructions were conflicting.
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status Update : In January of 1995, we will change the
format and text. The revised notice will remove the
reference to the forthcoming bill and will not have a tear
off stub. When appropriate, a narrative will appear on the
notice when a balance due still exists. The narrative will
read: "We will bill you later."

Recommendation: CP 253 - GAO questioned the appropriateness
of this notice's title and content. GAO suggested that some
clarification in either the text or title may be needed.

Response : IRS' Notice Clarity Unit officials agreed that
some clarification in either the text or the title may be
needed.

Status Update : In January of 1994, we changed the title on
CP 253 to read- "Your Wage Reports Don't Match Your
Employment Tax Returns." In January of 1995, we will change
the notice to provide more detailed information. The
amounts for Federal Income Tax Withheld, Advance EIC
payments, Social Security wages. Social Security tips, and
Medicare Wages reported on the Form 941 will be compared
with the amounts shown on the Forms W-2 , W-2G, and Forms
1099R, and the difference will be shown in a third column.
This will allow the taxpayer to quickly ascertain the
problem area.

Recommendation: CP 267 - This notice is intended to advise
taxpayers that some tax payments may have been misapplied,
possibly resulting in an overpayment. GAO suggested that
IRS should be more explicit in detailing what was reported
and what was actually owed.

Response : IRS' Notice Clarity Unit officials said they are
working with other IRS groups to revise it.

Status Update : We are changing the format and text of CP
267 for January 1995. A HIS has been prepared that will
provide a complete and concise breakdown of any payments or
changes to the taxpayer's account. With the explicit
payments being provided we are confident that the incidence
of taxpayers requesting clarifying information will decline.

IRS Correspondence Needs to Continue Improving - GAO/GGD -

94-XX, November 1993.

Recommendation 1 : Clarify the wording in notices, letters
and piablications to better inform taxpayers of those
situations that can be handled by a telephone call.
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Response : Several of our planned modernization efforts rely
heavily on telephone contact between the Service and the
taxpayer. We are currently conducting a test at the Fresno
Service Center, in which mailed notices encourage telephonic
rather than written responses. To the extent our
communications systems allow, we will continue encouraging
telephone contact.

Status Update : Our modernization efforts encourage
telephonic contact. The Fresno Service Center is
consolidating Collection, Taxpayer Relations, and Adjustment
Branch work into new Customer Service Branches which will
respond to taxpayer telephone inquiries. Certain types of
correspondence are being sent with notices encouraging
telephone contact. We provide toll-free telephone numbers.
In addition, an automated call distribution system was
installed to expedite responses. During the Fresno test, we
will be using the current Program Analysis System, Quality
Management Information System, and Integrated Test Call
Survey System to evaluate the quality of our telephonic
responses. We are working with Fresno to develop a
consolidated Quality Measurement System for the new customer
service branches.

The experience gained from the Fresno test will
facilitate the practical expansion of this concept to our
other customer service sites. Expanded telephone contact is
a significant piece of our business vision for the next
several years. Our goal is to have substantive account
information easily and quickly accessible within an expanded
communications network.

Reconunendation 2 : Clarify existing procedures for
responding to taxpayer requests to ensure that taxpayer's
questions do not go unanswered.

Response : We agree with GAO ' s recommendation to improve the
quality of correspondence we send to taxpayers so that all
their inquiries are answered. A key GAO concern has been
IRS' failure to always promptly acknowledge taxpayer
questions regarding installment agreement payments. To
address this specific concern, we are amending appropriate
Correspondex Letters and notices to include acknowledgement
of taxpayer payments. We will review correspondence
procedures regarding taxpayer inquiries and make sure they
are in conformance with Action 61 guidelines. The draft
Internal Revenue Manual (IRM) procedures incorporating the
new procedures will be completed by Central Region no later
than January 1, 1994.
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A standard part of our Quality Assurance Staff's review
includes checking to ensure that each taxpayer question is
addressed. If not, the error is noted and the case returned
to the tax examiner for correction. Our staffing does not
permit a 100 percent quality review of all outgoing
correspondence. However, we will make every reasonable
effort to ensure every taxpayer inquiry is answered.

Status Update : The new procedures were completed and
distributed in early 1994.

Recommendation 3 : Use correspondence mail out dates instead
of the date a response was initiated as a timeliness
indicator and adopt goals for providing taxpayers with final
responses.

Response : Using mail out dates as a timeliness factor is
not logistically feasible in the service centers. We will
continue to monitor the interval between correspondence
initiation and mail out, and whenever feasible, act to
reduce the interval. Beginning in October 1993, we began
tracking how often we provide a final response to the
taxpayer within a 14-day time frame and a 30-day time frame.

Status Update : Several different systems are used to
generate correspondence. Within each type of correspondence
(e.g. notices, letters, etc.) there are hundreds of unique
documents each having their own generation/mail out
intervals. Another problem in using the mail out date as
the measurement device is that when the correspondence is
finally mailed out, the case file is no longer associated
with the outgoing correspondence. Significant resources
would be expended to re-associate the case files to
determine timeliness. The correspondence generation date
remains the most cost efficient and practical method for
determining timeliness.

Our Correspondence Review Program began in October 1993
and tracks how often we provided a final response to the
taxpayer within a 14-day time frame and a 30-day time frame.
These new measures were added to our Quality Index as key
performance indicators.

Baselines and current performance rates follow:
14-Day Response

FY '94 Baseline 34.0%
Current National Rate 40.7%

30-Day Response
FY '94 Baseline 55.0%
Current National Rate 72.7%
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We will continue to monitor the interval between
correspondence initiation and the mail out with the ongoing
goal to reduce the interval.

Recommendation 4 : Reassess the purposes of interim letters
and then provide the service centers clear guidelines for
accomplishing those purposes.

Response : Interim letter guidelines will be issued by
February 1, 1994. A training package will also be issued by
February 1, 1994, that will provide further guidance
regarding interim letters.

Status Update : The guidelines and training packages took
longer than expected. They were issued on May 11, 1994.
The letter guidelines cover such topics as:

- When to send an interim letter
- What information must be included
- Subsequent interim letters
- Interim letters issued when cases are transferred
- Locally developed interim letters

A training package was sent to the Service Centers in
February of this year. It provides further guidance
regarding interim letters. The package is intended for use
as a training guide and as a desk reference.

Recommendation 5 : Review samples of interim letters to
ensure that improvement in quality results from the revised
guidelines

.

Response : Service Centers will begin conducting a product
review of interim letters in all function areas. These
reviews are scheduled to begin March 31, 1994.

Status Update : The Interim Guidelines instruct service
centers to establish quality product reviews of interim
letters in all functions. The purpose of the quality
reviews will be to: assure that service centers are sending
accurate interim letters which include all necessary
information and address all issues, and identify problem
areas for improvements. Problem issues will be forwarded to
the National Office for appropriate action. National Office
analysts will critique the product reviews during field
program visitations.
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Recommendation 6 : Implement Correspondence Task Force
recommendations to (1) incorporate correspondence
improvements at the district offices, (2) meet user
requirements for a letter writing system and an automated
inventory control system, and (3) measure taxpayer
satisfaction.

Response : (1) We continue to work towards district office
implementation. (2) The development of a letter writing
system and an automated inventory control system as part of
the TSM also continues. (3) Due to costs and 0MB
requirements, we believe that a Service-wide sponsored
effort to measure taxpayer satisfaction is more viable than
one sponsored and conducted strictly by the Taxpayer Service
function.

Status Update : (1) The District Office Implementation
Report for Action 61 has been completed and is awaiting
final approval. The report recommends the establishment of
a multi-functional group to coordinate the implementation of
the recommendations. The approval should take place within
the next two or three months. (2) The development of a
letter writing system and an automated inventory control
system as a part of the TSM Case Processing System is
ongoing. (3) One recommendation of the report deals with
securing taxpayer feedback. The executives responsible for
the District Office Implementation Report briefed the
Executive Committee during March of this year. The report,
when finally approved, will be sent to the appropriate
chiefs for implementation.

Increased Fraud and Poor Taxpayer Access to IRS Cloud 1993
Filing Season - GAO/GGD - 94-65, December 1993.
(IRS has not previously responded in writing to the GAO
recommendations in this report.)

The Service believes we must maintain a real and
perceived separation from the RAL (Refund Anticipation Loan)
banks since we do not approve, control or regulate Refund
Anticipation Loans. We are interested in receiving the
results of the banks' fraud detection efforts, but need to
avoid the perception of "partnership" in the RAL process.

Recommendation lA : Require Criminal Investigation to work
with the large RAL banks to obtain more timely data on
potentially fraudulent cases.

Response/Status Update : Criminal Investigation has met with
representatives of the Fraud Service Bureau (the four major
RAL banks' fraud bureau) and requested more timely data on
potentially fraudulent refund claims. The banks have agreed
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to furnish the information within 5 days rather than the
previous average of 7-10 days. The banks' screening of
claims is their basis for loan approval. Therefore, they
are reluctant to identify a claim as potentially fraudulent
until the borrower has had an opportunity to supply
additional or corrected information to avoid possible
liability for incorrect lending decisions.

Recommendation IB : Require Criminal Investigation to
analyze the fraud cases IRS identified from information
provided by the banks to see if those cases involve unique
features that should be included in IRS' fraud scoring
criteria

.

Response/Status Update : The information which was received
from the banks was compared to previously identified
fraudulent returns. The ones which were identified solely
from the bank information are reviewed to determine if there
are unique characteristics which can be scored in the IRS'
fraud scoring criteria.

Recommendation IC : Require Criminal Investigation to
determine which banks were used for fraudulent refunds to
see if special attention should be given to banks that do
not use the Fraud Service Bureau (FSB)

.

Response/Status Update : In order to determine which banks
were used for fraudulent refund schemes, it would be
necessary to know the Routing Transfer Number (RTN) of the
bank to which a fraudulent electronic refund was made. Each
bank has a unique RTN. This information is not a field that
is currently kept in all the service centers' Questionable
Refund Program (QRP) databases. The ones that do maintain
that information will be requested to determine the volumes
of fraudulent returns from the FSB banks as compared to the
non-FSB banks. This will not distinguish between RALs and
regular direct deposits. Once this information has been
gathered and the results reviewed, a determination can be
made as to how much attention this particular characteristic
should receive.

Recommendation 2 : Allow electronic filers to transmit Form
9465 as part of their electronic submission if IRS decides
to continue using that form for requesting installment
agreements

.

Response : Although officials agreed that the Form 9465
should be included among the forms that can be filed
electronically, they said that they did not plan to make
such a change until 1995 because of other priorities.
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status Update : The primary focus of the programming changes
for 1994 was directed towards improving fraud detection. As
a result the programming changes to allow the filing of
Form 9465 had to be deferred until 1995. The Request for
Information Services has been prepared for including the
Form 9465 in the ELF system for January 1995 implementation.

New Delinquent Tax Collection Methods for IRS - GAO/GGD -

93-67, May 1993.

Recommendation : Restructure IRS' Collection organization to
support earlier telephone contact with delinquent taxpayers
and determine how to use current Collection staff in
earlier, more productive phases of the collection cycle.

Response : A long-term redesign of collection work processes
is being developed through a Core Business Systems approach.
As a result, in the past 18 months, the IRS Collection
organization has greatly changed the way it does business,
with particular emphasis on accelerating the collection
process. Specifically:

1. Early Intervention Contact Project -- The Service is
conducting this major test, which will evaluate the
effectiveness of earlier telephone calls. Telephone calls
are being made in place of the third notice on a sampling of
balance due and return delinquency cases. Calls are being
made from the Fresno Service Center and the Jacksonville
Automated Collection System (ACS) call site to the taxpayers
who are normally served by those locations. In addition to
the phone calls, we are also testing the usefulness of
improved language in the notices sent to taxpayers. Results
of the test will be tracked and compared with those of the
current operations. Critical measurements include: total
cases resolved; method of disposition; returns secured;
dollars collected; account problems resolved; elapsed time
and burden reduction; and future compliance. These
measurements, when combined with detailed costing data, will
enable the Service to effectively evaluate the concept and
consider operational improvements to better fulfill its
mission.

The Service expects the following benefits: earlier
resolution of taxpayer cases; reduction of financial burden;
and a greater likelihood of the taxpayer having the ability
to pay and perhaps avoid further delinquencies. The test
commenced on October 18, 1993, and will continue through
FY "94.
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2. Streamlined Installment Agreement Procedures -- We have
streamlined installment agreement procedures and expanded
the authority of our employees to grant approval of
installment agreements up to specified dollar amounts. This
authority has been expanded cross-functionally, which has
increased our ability to provide "one stop service." In
addition, revenue agents and tax auditors now have the
authority to offer installment agreements at the conclusion
of an examination.

3. Form 9465, Installment Agreement Request -- We developed
this form to accelerate the processing of pre-assessed
installment agreements. This form can be attached by
taxpayers when they file balance due returns. The form is
also used as a stuffer in balance due notices that are sent
to taxpayers. We are exploring the use of Form 9465 as a
stuffer for underreporter cases, correspondence
examinations, and returns prepared by IRS where taxpayers
fail to file. Also, we are testing the Voice Response Unit
in the Laguna Niguel ACS call site. This technology allows
the taxpayer, using a touch tone telephone, to set up an
installment agreement provided certain criteria are met.
These criteria include limits on the amounts owed and the
time required to fully pay the account.

4. ACS Planning for Quality Prototype in Newark —
Telephone calls are being made on all new individual tax
delinquent accounts received in ACS, before levy action.
Plans to have new automated telephone dialing equipment
installed in Newark are underway. This equipment
automatically dials the telephone numbers of taxpayers at
times when they are likely to be available and, on getting
an answer, switches the call to an available ACS employee.
We expect this equipment will significantly increase the
productivity of our ACS staff, who will no longer expend
time on returned calls which go unanswered.

5. Moving Calls or Cases to Locations Where Staffing is
Available -- Where ACS call sites share a service center
data base, the technology exists to work inventory from
either site. Currently the Baltimore and Philadelphia ACS
sites and the Chicago and St. Louis sites are taking
advantage of this capability. Ultimately, we plan to
provide for the movement of work across service center
lines, but this is not possible with our current system.
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6. Service Center Organizational Study (SCOS) and Customer
Service Initiatives — Efforts are underway that will
significantly change the way we do business. As we
implement new technology and new organizational designs, our
emphasis will be on contacting taxpayers by telephone early
on and resolving accounts much sooner than our current
methods allow.

Reconunendation : Develop detailed information on delinquent
taxpayers and use it to customize collection procedures.

Response : We are developing a major compliance system
called the Compliance Research Information System (CRIS)

.

This system will profile taxpayers and allow us to
understand the patterns of noncompliance.

Currently, a limited degree of customizing does exist
in the collection process. The approach for each taxpayer
varies depending on the type of delinquency, taxpayer
history, and expected yield. In general, the collection
effort begins with written notices from the service center,
then proceeds to telephone contact from ACS and/or personal
contact from the Collection Field function (CFf) if the
delinquency is not resolved. Both ACS and CFf inventories
are prioritized by expected yield, using priority codes in
ACS and the Resources and Workload Management System (RWMS)
score in CFf.

Our workload management system uses taxpayer
characteristics in prioritizing workload. Entity age, total
positive income, and the number of other delinquent modules
in the account are just a few of the taxpayer
characteristics used in the prioritization process.

We are conducting three separate, concurrent
Accelerated Notice Tests to study the effects on
collectibility by eliminating one or more of the written
notices to the taxpayer, thus shortening the period a
delinquent account spends in notice status and promoting
earlier use of other collection methods. The final report
on this study will be available in the fall of 1994.

We are conducting a study to identify the
characteristics of cases most likely to be closed by either
notice, ACS, or CFf processing. We anticipate that this
information can be used to make better decisions on where
cases should be assigned for work to better tailor the
collection process to individual types of cases. The final
report on this study will be available by late 1995.



65

We tested an early prototype of the Accounts Receivable
Analytical Model software. We believe that this model, when
fully developed, will help us anticipate accounts receivable
problems, help us evaluate collection performance, and give
us insight into how best to tailor the collection processes
for different taxpayer profiles.

Recommendation : IRS should identify and implement ways to
increase cooperation with state governments in collecting
delinquent taxes.

Response : Since 1991 we have increased initiatives with
state tax departments in the collection of delinquent taxes,
some of which were mentioned in the GAO report. At the
district level, Fed/State efforts include tape-to-tape
matches of nonfilers, outreach programs for nonfilers and
focusing on the compliance of certain state licensed
professional groups, securing the results of state audit
examinations (Employment Tax Adjustment Program) , use of
state sales tax information to identify delinquent business
taxpayers, exchange of delinquent returns secured by one
taxing agency with another and setting up installment
agreements by one taxing agency on behalf of the other with
the cooperation of the taxpayer. Other projects include
sharing training materials and procedures with interested
states. Several states have already adopted IRS' procedures
for offers in compromise.

Many of our district collection officials are currently
meeting with their counterparts in the states to determine
how they can pool their resources to be more effective
collectors. Two districts have made joint installment
agreement privileges available to taxpayers who owe both
federal and state taxes. Other districts are considering
doing the same. Many districts are looking at how they can
cooperate in such areas as bankruptcy and resolution of tax
lien issues. We are in the process of measuring the impact
of setting up cooperative agreements in these areas. We are
hopeful that these programs can improve compliance, reduce
taxpayer burden, and be cost effective.

Recommendation : That the Commissioner test the use of
private collection companies to support IRS' collection
efforts as permitted by current law.

Response : We have serious concerns about the accounts
receivable inventory and have been exploring many
alternative actions to reduce that inventory. However, we
are very concerned about the impact on tax administration,
the privacy of taxpayer information and our employees if we
were to contract out collection activities. We need to
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learn more about its ramifications before we would be
prepared to approve Service testing of this concept. We
also recognize that in light of the significant accounts
receivable inventory, we must be open to suggestions and
ideas that can help us to reduce that inventory.

Improved Staffing of IRS' Collection Function Would Increase
Productivity - GAO/GGD - 93-97, May 1993.

Recommendation : The Commissioner direct the Assistant
Commissioner (Collection) to develop a plan for ensuring
that the Collection staff in field offices is balanced to
maximize the assessment and collection of delinquent taxes.

Response/Status Update : A complete list of our actions to
address workload/staffing balances, with target completion
dates is enclosed. Collection has already begun to put in
place strategies which will accelerate the migration of
staffing to workload in all its functions, including the
Collection Field function (CFf ) . Collection's Resource
Allocation Study Group, which includes several Collection
executives, has been reviewing our resource allocation
methodologies. Recommendations of the group include:

Identifying a "minimum presence" required in a
district;

Allocating staff with the objective of leveling the
Resource and Workload Management System (RWMS) cut-off
score nationally. This would help equalize the
treatment of taxpayers;

Classifying relatively overstaffed districts as "No
Growth Areas" (NGAs)

;

Freezing revenue officer hiring in all NGAs for the
foreseeable future; tracking utilization to verify that
attrition Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) are transferred
to districts which are relatively understaffed;

Treating the Automated Collection System (ACS) as a

corporate asset beginning in FY '94. Insure that
existing ACS technology simplifies migrating work to
staff rather than vice versa;

Exploring other possibilities for treating resources as
corporate assets. The Special Procedures function
(SPf ) and Collection Support function (CSf ) , which are
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included in the CFf, present potential opportunities to
consolidate and centralize work in designated key
districts or in the Service Center Collection Branch
(SCCB) . In addition, we will soon begin working with
the regions to assign relatively understaffed district
workload to staff in contiguous NGAs. Long-term
details and voluntary reassigninents among unbalanced
districts will also be considered.

Recommendation : The plan should include the use of marginal
productivity indicators and multi-year economic forecasts in
the methodology for determining the number of staff each
field office should have.

Response : We are working on the best approach to
incorporate econometric data and marginal productivity
indicators in Collection's resource allocation decisions.
We plan to have a system in place by October 1995.

Recommendation : The plan should provide a means for
Collection to assess the impact of planned future
technological, strategic, and organizational changes on
Collection staffing needs and, if appropriate, to modify its
plan on the basis of that assessment.

Response : We agree with the recommendation. As the Service
implements the new Business Vision, Collection will work
closely with appropriate functions to ensure that resource
allocation decisions mirror the Service's overall direction.

For example. Collection's plan to allocate ACS
resources as a corporate asset maximizes use of available
ACS technology and allows for distributing resources to
sites in favorable labor markets.

Recommendation : The plan should include strategies for
transferring Collection employees to other functions as a

means of eliminating staffing imbalances.

Response : This issue was considered early in the Resource
Allocation Study Group's work. Several members of the group
represent relatively overstaffed regions. These executives
advised that many of the other IRS functions in their
regions were also relatively overstaffed. We will, however,
revisit this issue as the Service-wide redeployment provides
new opportunities to creatively resolve our staffing
imbalances

.
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IRS Can Do More to Collect Taxes Labelled Currently Not
Collectible - GAO/GGD - 94-2, October 1993.

Recommendation : The Commissioner should establish
specific guidelines for determining taxpayer ability to pay
delinquent taxes, including criteria for determining dollar
ranges for reasonable and necessary expenses.

Response : We have assembled a cross-functional task force
to examine the issue of reasonable and necessary expenses.
Initial efforts involve primarily Collection and Research
Division personnel examining income and cost of living data
to establish some baselines for reasonable and necessary
expenses in key areas such as housing, food, and
transportation. As a result of these actions, we hope to
simplify the decision process for Collection personnel
whether an account should be paid immediately, subjected to
an installment agreement or offer in compromise, or
determined Currently Not Collectible (CNC) . Our goal is to
establish guidelines which recognize the variance in living
expenses from one area of the country to another.

While guidelines will eliminate some of the
inconsistency with which reasonable and necessary expenses
are determined, there will still be a need for Collection
personnel to exercise their best judgment on a case by case
basis. For example, a taxpayer leases a luxury residence at
a cost substantially exceeding the housing norms for that
geographical area. Is the taxpayer forced to default on the
lease agreement and look for less expensive quarters
immediately, or should action be deferred until the
conclusion of the lease agreement?

The initial recommendations of the task force will be
presented to the practitioner community and other outside
stakeholders

.

Recommendation : The Commissioner should establish
specific guidelines for selecting an income level at which
unable to pay CNC accounts will be reactivated.

Respons e: We agree with this recommendation. A
comprehensive revision of the applicable portions of the
Internal Revenue Manual (IRM) is one anticipated result of
the task force noted above. Selection of the income level
at which an account will be reactivated is one of several
issues to be included.
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Reconunendation : The Commissioner should require, except in
extraordinary situations, at least minimum payments from
delinquent taxpayers with incomes above a specified level.

Response : We agree with the principle of this
recommendation. Again, the determination of the specified
income level may vary based upon local cost of living
issues. Additional IRM guidance will consider the
recommendations of the task force noted above.

Recommendation : The Commissioner should eliminate the
automatic 65-week reactivation hold period and allow
employees to determine when CNC accounts should be
considered for reactivation purposes.

Response : We do not agree with this recommendation. Our
discussions with GAO personnel attempted to explain our
position that the 65-week reactivation hold is necessary to
prevent unnecessary reconsideration of recent account
dispositions. The reactivation programs are such that an
employee could not prevent the reactivation of the account
if the next filed return met the total positive income
criteria and the hold period had not passed. This raises
the possibility of large numbers of accounts being
reactivated when collection potential has not changed
significantly. If Collection employees are selecting
conservative reactivation codes, even marginal income
improvement would reactivate the account.

Our Internal Audit (lA) function is also considering a
comprehensive review of the cost effectiveness of the total
positive income reactivation programs. lA has speculated
that the overall return from reactivated accounts represents
a poor use of scarce resources, both in reactivation program
maintenance and in Collection personnel use. Given the size
of queue inventories, there are real concerns that
continuing to revisit older accounts with reduced collection
potential is adversely impacting the Service's ability to
service newer, revenue productive accounts.

Recommendation : The Commissioner should track both
taxpayers with joint delinquencies to ensure that each
taxpayer's ability to pay or status is considered in the
reactivation decision.

Response : Our ability to accomplish dual tracking is
limited by the ability of the current master file to track
only the primary taxpayer identification number. The long-
term solution lies in Tax Systems Modernization. We are
exploring whether any interim solutions can be built upon
the current joint refund offset programs.
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Recommendation : The Commissioner should study the benefits
of using other pertinent information, such as interest and
dividend income and proceeds from the sale of assets, in
addition to total income as reactivation criteria.

Response : We agree there may be benefits to using
information such as interest and dividend income or proceeds
from the sale of assets as reactivation criteria. However,
as the report indicated, "The number of returns that
contained indicators of collection potential was not large
enough to provide meaningful statistical estimates for the
population of unable to pay CNC taxpayers."

This is an element which we will incorporate into our
reviews of CNC activity for study purposes. Additional
information is needed to determine if this recommendation
should be pursued under Tax Systems Modernization.

Recommendation : The Commissioner should expedite the
processing of reactivated cases by reducing the number of
notices and making prior case files readily available for
IRS employees working reactivated cases.

Response : We believe this recommendation needs further
study during FY 1994. As noted above. Internal Audit has
expressed its concerns over the cost effectiveness of our
reactivation programs. We are presently unable to determine
the relative effectiveness of "passive" actions such as
notices, refund offsets, and the effects of notices of tax
lien compared with active intervention by our personnel on
CNC accounts.

Each reactivated case competes with more current
inventory for our available staffing and related resources.
We are not in a position to abandon the gains from our
notice programs when local workload conditions may only
result in these reactivated cases being placed in the
Resources and Workload Management queue.

Ideally, prior CNC case files would be readily
available to employees working reactivated cases. This
implies filing operations on the local level. However,
given the volume of accounts reported as CNC, district
office maintenance of background files for all potential
reactivations is not practical. Retrieval of information
from Federal Records Centers is not always assured, but this
storage method is the only viable option. Providing better
instructions for information retrieval is one possible
answer.
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Recoitunendation : The Commissioner should reinforce with
supervisors and post reviewers the need to thoroughly review
CNC determinations.

Response : We are currently reviewing the range of
expectations placed upon first line Collection managers.
Ensuring quality and efficiency from a group of employees is
the core responsibility of a Collection manager. We are
looking for ways to reduce routine and administrative tasks
which have substantial impact on a manager's available time.

One option we are considering is removing mandatory
approval requirements for work products generated by
experienced revenue officers. This would give managers the
flexibility to concentrate their review efforts in areas of
weakness or concern. Without some compromise along these
lines, the volume of CNC recommendations will tend to
produce less thorough reviews.

Effective October 1, 1993, the CNC post review process
was incorporated into the Collection Quality Management
System (CQMS) . We anticipate that the centralized site
review will result in a better quality product.

Recommendation : The Commissioner should establish
processes that will ensure that the proper number of CNC
post reviews are thoroughly done.

Response : Under the prior post review system, the number of
completed reviews was affected by programs which competed
for staffing located in the district Special Procedures
function.

Achieving established review samples, including that
for CNC accounts, is one of the key expectations for the
CQMS sites. The checklists established for review
operations also result in a better quality product.

Recommendation : The Commissioner should establish
requirements for post review reports that will ensure that
they provide meaningful information that can be used in
determining whether changes are needed.

Response : As sufficient data is accumulated under the
combined CQMS/post review process, we have the capacity to
produce national reports on the core elements specific to
CNC quality. These reports will be the basis for analysis
to identify systemic issues and needed procedural changes.
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Your letter also expressed concerns over taxpayer
access to telephone assistance, IRS interim correspondence,
IRS collection staffing policies, IRS collection procedures
and the "currently not collectible" category.

Concern : We ask that you provide us with a description of
specific steps that IRS is taking to ensure improved access
to telephone assistance, what will be done to improve the
situation in 1994, 1995, and 1996, and what you expect the
access rate to be for the 1994 filing season.

Response : In 1994, our plans are to answer at least the
same number of calls as last year. This filing season,
through March 19, 1994, we have answered over 11.6 million
calls, an increase of 706,000 over the same period last
year. We are optimistic that through numerous initiatives
undertaken, we will improve our telephone service. At the
same time, we are concerned with the trend of increased
demand for telephone assistance and the apparent decrease in
access to our system. Through the week ending March 19,
1994, the level of service was 52.9% compared to 57.2% last
year.

We are working to improve access in a number of ways,
including:

- implementing a "Customer Service Network" to equalize
telephone access by transferring calls to sites with
less demand. We have already shifted portions of
traffic from a call site where demand has been
consistently higher than expected to a call site in
another region experiencing less demand than
anticipated. In addition, this network enabled us to
transfer telephone demand for service sites across the
country after the recent California earthquake, thus
allowing IRS to make employees available to help at
FEMA sites;

- installing the new Aspect Automated Call Distributor
(ACD) equipment with voice response unit (VRU)
capability in more sites. This equipment increases our
productivity by about 10%, enabling our current staff
to serve more customers; and,

- standardizing and extending hours of operation,
including some weekend service. (We are opening
earlier, closing later, and working selected Saturdays
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during the filing season, especially between 9:00 a.m.
and 1:00 p.m. when demand is greatest. In addition, we
have begun providing after-hour access to our automated
Tele-Tax system for customers who dial in to our
regular live-assistor toll-free system.)

As part of our Business Vision, we plan to improve
service by installing new equipment that will be networked
and nationally managed. We will use the latest technology
and research tools to increase productivity through
automated devices such as VRUs and we will increase hours
and days of service based on customer demand. Already, 16

of our 32 toll-free telephone sites have VRUs giving us

enhanced capability network and equalize access to systems
nationally. Ultimately, all answering sites will be VRU-
based and inter-connected to maximize service to the
customer

.

We are also pursuing efforts to more accurately
estimate the demand for our service. We are now receiving
new reports from our telephone carrier, SPRINT, which allows
us to pinpoint more accurately the number of callers who
request assistance. The reports provide additional
information such as the number of attempts callers made
before reaching us. Our analysis of these reports indicates
that there are fewer callers attempting to reach us than our
current method of demand would project. Because the new
reports measure actual callers and the current formula is an
estimate, we believe these new reports will become the
accepted measure of service.

While we do know that, on average, about one in four
customer "call attempts" were answered last year,
forecasting future accessibility rates is a nearly
impossible task, and must be reduced to a common sense
approach. in addition to IRS telephone staffing and
equipment which obviously influence access rates, taxpayer
behavior is a big factor as well. How many call attempts is

the customer willing to make? How many customers use
automatic redial equipment? All these factors play a role
in the accessibility picture. Therefore, while we do not
and can not "predict" accessibility rates, it is reasonable
to expect that 1994 telephone accessibility should be
sightly better than in 1993 unless telephone demand grows
dramatically. Similarly, accessibility rates for 1995 and
1996, given the same caveat, ought to continue to improve as
we gain experience and proficiency in shifting traffic
through our Customer Service Network, refine true taxpayer
demand and accessibility rates, and take advantage of
technological advances, such as VRUs.
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Your concerns with respect to IRS interim
correspondence are addressed in our responses to the GAO
report" IRS Correspondence Needs to Continue Improving"
which appear earlier in this response.

Concern : IRS Collection Staffing Policies

Response : We agree that significant workload/staffing
imbalances exist among Collection Field function (CFf)
districts. Before FY 1992, our resource allocation models
were unsophisticated and outdated. Beginning with FY 1992,
the Collection Resource Database and Information Tracking
System (CREDITS) model has been available. This budget and
work planning model provides us with improved information on
which to base resource allocation decisions. A complete
list of our actions to address workload/staffing balances,
with target completion dates, is enclosed.

While the workload/staffing balance among districts can
be improved, it will never be "perfectly" balanced due to
geographic and demographic differences. Districts which
include large urban areas (such as the Manhattan and
Los Angeles Districts) can never be staffed to the same
proportional level as small rural districts (such as the
Cheyenne, WY and Aberdeen, SD Districts) because of the
resources this would require. Conversely, staffing the
rural districts to the same level as the urban districts
would result in such restricted staffing in the rural
districts that an effective collection program could not be
maintained. One solution that we are pursuing is to define
a minimum program for each district, staffing all districts
to achieve that program, then allocating our remaining staff
based on workload priority.

Concern : Effectiveness of IRS Collection Procedures

Response : We are constantly looking for ways to improve our
collection process and have established a project under the
Assistant Commissioner (Collection) to coordinate our
efforts. Specific steps underway or under consideration are
described in our previous responses to GAO ' s report on our
collection methods. Not mentioned previously is our long-
standing practice of allocating resources first for our
service centers and Automated Collection sites, which deal
with accounts early in the collection process, with
remaining resources allocated to the districts for revenue
officer and other staffing. This ensures that the service
centers and ACS sites will have resources to deal with their
anticipated workload.
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Concern : Currently Not Collectible Program

Response : We share your desire to improve our currently not
collectible (CNC) program.

In addition to the issues identified by GAO and
previously covered in this response, your letter questioned
our treatment of CNC cases with respect to staff
evaluations. We do not use statistics in evaluating our
collection staff. To do so would violate section 6231(a) of
P. L. 100-647, a provision of the Taxpayer Bill of Rights.
This provision expressly prohibits such use of this
information. If a case
is properly worked, the disposition is determined solely by
the taxpayer's ability to pay. Evaluations of our
collection employees are based on how well they complete
their casework.

Clearly, since our mission is to secure the proper
amount of revenue from each taxpayer, a CNC is not a

desirable case disposition. However, for purposes of
resource estimates, a CNC disposition is equal to a fully
paid account. Given the clear language of IRC section 7811,
relating to Taxpayer Assistance Orders, and IRC section
6343(a)(1)(D), relating to release of a levy which is
creating an economic hardship, CNC is the only possible
disposition of an account when the taxpayer is unable to
make any payments. There are other cases, for example
bankrupt corporations, where there is no potential for
further collection. However, all these cases require
investment of resources to conduct the investigation. It is
important for planning purposes that we give the same weight
to these dispositions as we do to cases which result in full
payment.

This is not to say that we see no need to better apply
our resources. As we have discussed elsewhere in this
letter, we are trying to better select cases for our staff
to pursue toward the goal of increased collections.
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PICKLE. TEXAS. CHAIRMAN OAN ROSTENKOWSKI ILUNOIS. CHAIRMAN

COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS

us HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

WASHINGTON DC 20515

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT

January 10, 19 94

The Honorable Margaret Milner Richardson
Commissioner
Internal Revenue Service
1111 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20224

Dear Commissioner Richardson:

On Tuesday, November 9, 1993, the Subcommittee on Oversight
held a hearing to review issues contained in six recent U.S.
General Accounting Office (GAO) reports to the Subcommittee
concerning problems with Internal Revenue Service (IRS)
communications with taxpayers and the collection of tax debts.
GAO's testimony at the hearing highlighted a number of problem
areas which we believe require prompt attention from IRS. A list
of the six reports reviewed at the hearing and a copy of GAO's
hearing statement to the Subcommittee are attached.

In general, the six reports contained recommendations that
IRS take action to reduce taxpayer frustration in dealing with
IRS, cutdown on repetitive IRS and taxpayer contacts to resolve
tax-related questions, treat taxpayers uniformly throughout the
country when collecting delinquent taxes, and increase the
effectiveness of IRS tax collection efforts. We believe that IRS
implementation of GAO's recommendations will result in major
improvements in taxpayer relations with IRS and the collection of
delinquent taxes. Therefore, we request that you provide the
Subcommittee with a detailed response to each of the GAO
recommendations contained in the six reports reviewed by the
Subcommittee, including whether you agree or disagree with each
GAO recommendation, when and how each recommendation will be
implemented, and related actions IRS will take to address the
problems

.

In responding to these GAO recommendations, we ask that you
give special attention to the following specific concerns.
First, we are concerned about the increasing difficulty taxpayers
encounter in obtaining IRS telephone tax assistance. During the
1993 filing season, taxpayers had a one in four chance of getting
through to an IRS assistor. This is not acceptable and worse
than the one in three chance taxpayers had the year before. We
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consider taxpayer access Co IRS Cax assistance essential and
recommend that taxpayer access to IRS be improved. We ask that
ycu provide us with a description of specific steps
that IRS is taking to ensure improved access to telephone
assistance, what will be done to improve the situation in 1994,
1995, and 1996, and what you expect the access rate to be for the
1994 filing season.

Second, we are concerned that half of IRS interim
correspondence sent in response to taxpayer inquiries is
inaccurate, incomplete, confusing, or late. We believe that such
responses only serve to undermine public confidence in IRS and
the tax system. We recommend that IRS improve accuracy in this
area to include imposing a quality review process for interim
correspondence. We ask that you provide us with a description of
specific steps that IRS is taking to improve the accuracy and
timeliness of interim correspondence in 1994, 1995, and 1996, and
whet.^.er and how you will implement a quality review process.

Third, we are concerned about certain IRS collection staffing
policies. Uneven staffing levels at IRS field offices result in
disparate treatment of taxpayers in different areas of the
country. Taxpayers who live in some States are being pursued for
relatively minor tax delinquencies, while taxpayers with much
larger delinquencies who live in other States are not being
pursued. The failure of IRS to reallocate the workload and/or
transfer staff among field offices has allowed staffing
imbalances to persist. We believe that IRS has ineffectively
relied on additional staff year authorizations from the Congress
and attrition to address such imbalances. Even after two recent
large hiring initiatives, IRS has not rectified the situation.
We recommend that IRS develop a plan to treat taxpayers uniformly
throughout the country. We ask that you provide us with a
description of specific steps that IRS plans to take to ensure
that these imbalances are addressed, and in what timeframes.

Fourth, we are concerned that current IRS collection
procedures do not result in efficient collection of taxes. We
believe that current reliance by IRS on repeated and lengthy
written notification of tax delinquencies, instead of
establishing early telephone contact with delinquent taxpayers,
reduces the likelihood of successfully collecting the full amount
of many taxes owed. We recommend that IRS shift more staff
activities to early contact with taxpayers. We ask that you
provide us with a description of specific steps that IRS plans to
take to promote earlier, direct contact with delinquent
taxpayers, and in what timeframes.
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Fifth, we are concerned that IRS collection procedures for
designating taxes as "currently not collectible" (CNC) are
inadequate. We believe that the lack of meaningful supervisory
review of cases designated as CNC, the lack of uniform guidelines
for making CNC determinations, and the inability of IRS to keep
track of income data from jointly liable taxpayers throughout the
CNC process, contribute to the inability of IRS to effectively
deal with the $131 billion in accounts receivables. We recommend
that IRS establish CNC review procedures, specific criteria for
CNC determinations, and procedures to deal with joint filers. We
request that you provide us with a description of the specific
steps that IRS is taking to improve the CNC process, including
what changes will be undertaken to establish CNC review
procedures, uniform guidelines, and data on joint filers.

Also, we are troubled by the fact that CNC determinations
are treated as case closures, just as if the taxes were collected
in full, when evaluating IRS staff productivity. Further, we are
troubled that IRS staff handling "reactivated" CNC cases do not
use earlier IRS files, but rather "start again from scratch." We
believe that treating CNC closures as full tax collections
encourages CNC determinations, and that ignoring existing case
files results in unnecessary rework. We recommend that IRS
reevaluate whether case closures through CNC determinations are
being appropriately used in IRS staff evaluations, and determine
the extent to which existing IRS records should be used in CNC
cases that are reopened. We request that you provide us with an
analysis of how IRS uses CNC determinations and prior files in
the collection process and a description of any specific changes
that IRS plans to make in this area.

We request that you respond to this inquiry by the close of
business, Friday, February 4, 1994. If you have any questions,
please contact Beth Vance, Staff Director, Subcommittee on
Oversight, at 225-5522.

Sincerely,

Enclosures
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